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The Directors of ECR M inerals plc (the “Directors” or the “Board”) present their report and audited financial

statements for the year ended 30 September 2022 for ECR M inerals plc (“ECR”, the “Company” or the “Parent

Company”) and on a consolidated basis (the “Group”)

Chairman’s Statement

Although the year to September 2022 has been a year of significant operat ional progress, it  was overshadowed for the most part

by the unt imely and t ragic death of long serving CEO Craig Brown. Craig was a close personal friend and confidant of mine, and his

death in October 2021 was a profound shock to us all. A year on and his family are st ill with us as enthusiastic supporters and

shareholders, keen to see his legacy fulfil led.

As a result of Craig’s death, an interim management commit tee was set  up to oversee the cont inued smooth running of the

Company, including the ongoing drill campaigns underway in Victor ia. This was not without  its challenges, but  thanks to an

experienced operational team on the ground in Victoria, our now Technical Director Adam Jones oversaw the continued smooth

running and restart  of diamond drill ing act ivit ies at  Bailieston.

The search for a CEO to replace Craig started at the end of 2021, and by April 2022, Andrew Haythorpe’s experience as a board

member with numerous listed mining companies put him in pole posit ion as our clear favoured candidate. Since his arrival, Andrew

has adopted a structured and methodical approach in assessing our exist ing assets and as we have seen post  year end, he is now

bringing his own ideas and projects into the fold. The most significant manifestat ion of this was the announcement post  year end

that  ECR had been granted a conditional option to acquire the entire issued share capital of Placer Gold Pty Ltd, the beneficial

holder of t hree granted mining tenements (EPM  27518, EPM 25855 and EPM 19437) located in NE Queensland, together known as

the Hurricane Project . Following a fundraise announced post  year end, the Company is now in a position to potentially complete

on the opt ion acquisit ion once the steps out lined in the agreement have been undertaken. Hurricane is a late-stage exploration

project t hat of fers three tenements all highly prospective for gold and ant imony.

ECR’s operat ional hub is current ly centred in the state of Victoria in Australia, and through our wholly owned Australian subsidiary

M ercator Gold Australia Pty Ltd (“ M GA” ) we have cont inued to develop our projects at Bailieston and Creswick. Through our other

wholly owned subsidiary LUX Explorat ion Pty Ltd (“LUX” ) we are continuing to develop potential gold and bat tery metals assets in

the Lolworth Range area in Northern Queensland and follow ing the grant  of exploration licences there in February 2022, our field

team have undertaken a comprehensive st ream sediment sampling campaign, with some impressive results announced post year

end.

In Victoria, following the discovery of the highest-grade gold intercept yet revealed at the Historic Reserve #3 (HR3) prospect , the

M GA team completed a series of intensive diamond drilling campaigns at HR3, including the prospective Byron, Dan Genders,

Scoulars and M aori Reefs, plus numerous cross-st ructures. In August 2022, despite delays in receiving assay results from the labs,

results from several holes led to the discovery of  two mineralisat ion corridors within the M aori Anticline at  Historic Reserve 3 (HR3).

Post year end, we announced final gold results from the 2022 HR3 dr ill programme and, along with the earlier  results, t he full

dataset  is now undergoing evaluation prior t o announcing our next  steps for 2023. Also post year end, a furt her two exploration

licences were granted t o M GA at Bailieston, bringing our total land package there to 179 square km, including our own property at

Nagambie Rushwort h Road, acquired in summer 2021.

Of all the Bailieston projects, it  was Blue M oon that  piqued our new CEO’s interest due to its unusual geology. Blue M oon was f inally

drilled at the end of the year in focus, and post year end an encouraging grade from the first Blue M oon drill hole was reported.

Historically, a lot of investor interest has cent red on our Creswick project , where ECR also owns a second property at  Springmount .

Follow ing a visit  t o the Creswick tenements with Technical Director Adam Jones earlier this year, Andrew Haythorpe took the

decision that the Company should re-assay the Cresw ick diamond drill core. This proved to be a master stroke, with high grade

results revealed including 0.7m @47.75 g/ t  Au see announcement dated 19 October 2022 for the full details of these results. Our

key licence there was renewed during the year for a further 5 years, and along with the grant  of the adjacent  Ballarat  East Nerrina

Goldf ield licence, our team are gearing up for a new focus on Creswick in 2023.

ECR (through M GA) also owns two explorat ion licences in eastern Victoria, known as the Tambo project. Licence EL007484 covering

the Tambo River and Swifts Creek region was granted in December 2021, and this territ ory will also be in focus for explorat ion in

2023.

In December 2021, ECR formalised its 25% shareholding in Cordillera Tiger Gold Resources, owner of Explorat ion Licence EP-006 at

the Danglay Gold Project, N Philippines. April 2022 saw ECR acquire further shares from an exist ing shareholder to t ake a majority

70% stake in the project, br inging the nascent  value at  Danglay back to the fore on our balance sheet. With our focus very much on

Australia, several opt ions are being explored t o crystallize value here.
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In maintaining intensive drilling campaigns and exploration act ivit ies, ECR’s capital posit ion has reduced during the year, and now

stands at  £612,582. Following the previously mentioned post year end fundraising, and the sale of the Bendigo property announced

in August 2022. With further asset  disposals under considerat ion, t he costs of  our scheduled act ivit ies for t he coming year are in

hand.

We have signif icant ly advanced the value of our assets across the group during the year, and now with Andrew’s leadership I believe

we have never been bet ter posit ioned to deliver t ransformat ive value to our shareholders.

Weili (David) Tang

Chairman

31 M arch 2023
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Chief Executive Officer Report

In my first  report to you as your CEO, I must first  pay t ribute to my predecessor Craig Brown. I am under no illusions that his are big

shoes to fill, but  it is my sincere hope that w ith his family seeking fulfilment of his legacy, I and your Board can bring some of these

key assets to fruit ion.

I would also like to express my grat itude to the Interim Commit tee of Chairman David Tang, Technical Director Adam Jones, and

Non-Execut ive Director’s Andrew Scot t and Trevor Davenport  for overseeing the day to day running of t he business before my

arrival.

The ear ly part of the year saw the gold price continue to build, pushing back over US$2,000oz in M arch, nearly reaching the highs

of US$2,067 oz in M arch 2020. That  was the best  performance segment  of t he year however, as rising interest rates and hawkish

out looks from the US Fed and the European Central Bank saw the gold price slide lower to close out the ECR financial year at  $1,618

oz. It  should be remembered that although gold is considered a hedge against  rising inflat ion, higher rates raise the opportunity

cost  of holding non-yielding bullion, which w ill invariably weigh on the gold price. Post year end we have seen a resurgence in value,

which we believe is due to gold’s compelling safe-haven status set  against  a highly uncertain macro picture.

Since my arrival in April 2022 I have focussed on ECR’s exist ing drilling operat ions in Victoria, Australia. I took t ime to get  t o know

the projects at  Bailieston and Creswick so I could form a judgement on how these assets could fit  into an expanding gold exploration

Company. I was very impressed w ith what  I found. I spent time explor ing the locat ions with Adam Jones, and as a geologist I was

highly impressed with both the work he’d overseen to date and also his ideas on further developing each project.

With my knowledge of Northern prior experience exploring in North Queensland, I was already aware of the history and relat ively

unexplored nature of Lolworth Range near to the Charters Towers region, and, along w ith Adam Jones, I am equally enthusiast ic

over the opportunity and visible gold observed in t he field with assays now returning from the init ial field campaign. I also look

forward to exploring and possibly developing the Hurr icane project, on which ECR announced a condit ional option to buy 100% for

cash and shares in 2023 just  after the financial year end.

Victoria Work Overview:

Bailieston:

The Bailieston area is sited 47 km east  of Kirkland Lake Gold’s prolific Fosterville gold mine, which produced 509,601 ounces

in 2021, with head grades approaching 23.7g/ t. To date, ECR has drilled 9,485m at  Bailieston across several projects since Jan

2021. Following the discovery of the highest-grade gold intercept yet revealed at the Histor ic Reserve #3 (HR3) prospect , t he team

completed a series of  intensive diamond drilling campaigns at  HR3, and in August  2022, results from several holes led to the

discovery of two mineralised corridors within the Maori Anticline at HR3. Post year end, we announced final gold results from the

2022 HR3 drill programme and, along with the earlier results, this full dataset  is now being evaluated by our geology team. Also

post  year end, a further two explorat ion l icenses were granted at Bailieston, bringing our total land package there to 179 square

km, including our own property at  Nagambie Rushworth Road, acquired in summer 2021.

Of particular interest is the Blue M oon project due to its unusual geology and mineralizat ion style. It offers unusually broad width

and consistency (true width up to 7m). RC drilling in 2019 revealed 11m @ 5.13 g/ t  Au and 21m @ g/ t  Au, with mineralisat ion open

to the east, west and down-dip. Once all the results are received, we can then make decisions on next steps.

Creswick:

During the summer of 2022, the management team came to London where I presented our investment case at  the Proact ive One

2 One event. Post year end I returned to London to at tend 121 M ining Investment  and M ines and M oney. On each visit  I was st ruck

by how much investor interest  was centred around Cresw ick in the wake of works and drilling undertaken there since 2019. It is

also here at  Springmount  t hat  ECR owns a second property w ith some historical mine workings on the land. Following my init ial

visit  t o the Creswick tenements with Technical Direct or Adam Jones earlier this year, we decided re-assay the Cresw ick diamond

drill core. This proved to be a good decision, and just  after our year end, the re assay revealed high grade results including 0.7m

@47.75 g/ t  Au. Our key license there was renewed during the year for a further 5 years, and along with the grant of the adjacent

Ballarat  East  Nerrina Goldfield license, armed with the re assay data our team are gear ing up for a new focus on Creswick in 2023.

Tambo:

There are two exploration licences one st ill in applicat ion and the other now granted in eastern Victoria, known as the Tambo

project. Licence EL007484 covering the Tambo River and Swifts Creek region was granted in December 2021, and this territ ory will

also be in focus for exploration in 2023. The territory covers port ions of the historic Swifts Creek/ Omeo and Tambo River Goldfields
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that  have recorded historical gold product ion totalling 225,000 oz (Geological Survey of Victoria). Tambo is considered to be

prospective for orogenic reef gold and addit ionally for int rusion-related gold and base metal systems.

N Queensland Work Overview:

Lolworth Range

The Lolworth Range area in North Queensland has been closely monitored by ECR’s Head Geologist Adam Jones for at least

eight  years and is considered prospect ive for gold. In February 2022, explorat ion licences for tenements EPM 27901,

EPM27902 and EPM 27903 were granted (they will expire in f ive years on 31 January 2027). ECR has a commitment

expenditure of  AUD$650,000 for the first  three years across the three licence areas, and our team wasted no t ime in gett ing

on the ground there, undert aking a comprehensive stream sediment sampling campaign, with some impressive results

announced post  year end with visible gold in 14% of the first  125 st ream sediment  samples. This is very encouraging. Further

anomalies with t in and tungsten, plus mult iple pegmat ites (potent ial lithium sources) were observed and we are now put t ing

together a follow up plan of  act ion.

Hurricane Project (Post Year End)

Post year end, ECR was granted a condit ional opt ion to acquire the ent ire issued share capital of Placer Gold Pty Ltd, the beneficial

holder of t hree granted mining tenements (EPM  27518, EPM 25855 and EPM 19437) located in NE Queensland, together known as

the Hurricane Project . Hurricane was discovered 5 years ago by a geologist  who followed the Hodgkinson River tributaries to their

source and discovered numerous gold veins at  surface with grades ranging f rom 1- 20g/ t  over widths of 0.5-7m. Here ECR has a

conditional option to buy outr ight  for cash and shares in 2023, and w ith a modest A$200,000 spend commitment, we now have a

drilling campaign planned there for July 2023. The acquisit ion will complete subject to those result s. We consider Hurricane to be

a late-stage exploration project  with three tenements all highly prospect ive for gold and ant imony.

Overview of Exploration Licence Portfolio

At the end of  the f inancial year under review, ECR held three granted mineral explorat ion licences in Victoria (EL005433,

EL006148 and EL006907). The grant ing of Creswick license EL006907 to the south of EL006148 links Creswick to the Ballarat

East-Nerrina Goldfield. ECR holds granted explorat ion licence EL5433 at  Bailieston and post  year end has been granted

Bailieston licenses EK006911 and EL 006912.  At  Tambo ECR owns granted explorat ion licence EL007484 covering Swif ts Creek

and the Tambo River.

ECR holds three explorat ion licences (EPM 27901, EPM 27902 and EPM 27903) in the Lolworth area, North Queensland, and

subject  to exercise of t he opt ion t o acquire Placer Gold Ltd (Hurricane Project), will own granted explorat ion licenses EPM

27518, EPM  25855 and EPM  19437.

These are augmented by explorat ion licence applicat ion EL007296 at  Bailieston, explorat ion licence applicat ion EL006713 at

Creswick and explorat ion license EL007486 at  Tambo.

In November 2020, ECR lodged explorat ion licence applicat ion EL007537 for an area which surrounds mining licences

M IN5396 and M IN4847. These mining licences, which are not  held by ECR, contain the operat ing Ballarat  gold mine. The area

of EL007537 includes the southern extension of the Dimocks M ain Shale, which is the principal target  of exploration at  the

Creswick gold project  located a short  dist ance to the north, the northern extension of the Ballarat  East  line and the depth

extensions of t he Ballarat  West  line. EL007537 is in a compet it ive bid with three other applicants.

Danglay Gold Project, Philippines

In December 2021, ECR formalised its 25% shareholding in Cordillera Tiger Gold Resources, owner of Explorat ion License EP-006

at  the Danglay Gold Project, N Philippines. The project is located in a prolific gold and copper mining dist r ict  in the north of the

Philippines. April 2022 saw ECR acquire further shares from an exist ing shareholder to t ake a majority 70% stake in t he project,

bringing the nascent value at Danglay back to the fore on the ECR balance sheet . With our focus very much on Australia, several

opt ions are being explored t o crystallize value here. We will repor t back to the markets in due course.

Avoca and Timor Explorat ion Licence Royalties

In April 2020 M GA entered into an agreement for the sale of  Avoca and Timor exploration licences EL5387, EL006280, EL006913

and EL006278 in Victoria to Currawong Resources Pty Lt d, a wholly owned subsidiary of Fosterville South Explorat ion Ltd. A cash

payment of US$500,000 was received, and ECR is ent it led to:
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1. A further payment  of A$1 for every ounce of gold or gold equivalent of measured resource, indicated resource or inferred

resource est imated within t he area of one or more of t he licences in any combinat ion or aggregat ion of the foregoing, up to a

maximum of  A$1,000,000 in aggregate; and

2. A further payment of A$1 for every ounce of gold or gold equivalent  produced from within t he area of one or more of the licences,

up to a maximum of A$1,000,000 in aggregate.

SLM  Gold Project Royalties

In February 2020, the Company sold its wholly owned Argent ine subsidiary Ochre M ining SA, which holds the SLM  gold project  in

La Rioja, Argent ina. The sale allows ECR to focus on its core gold exploration act ivit ies in Australia.  The purchaser, Hanaq Argentina

SA (“ Hanaq” ), is a Chinese-owned company engaged in lithium, base and precious metals explorat ion in Northwest  Argentina

including Salta, Jujuy and La Rioja, with a highly experienced management team.

ECR retains an NSR royalt y of up to 2% to a maximum of USD 2.7 million in respect of future product ion from the SLM  gold project ,

owned by Hanaq Argent ina SA (Hanaq).  The Directors believe that  Hanaq has the operat ional capabilit ies and access to Chinese

investment capital necessary to put  the SLM project  into product ion, subject to t he usual prerequisites such as further explorat ion

and feasibility studies being successfully completed (if deemed necessary by Hanaq) and to the necessary permits for production

being obtained.

FINANCIAL RESULTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2022

As a Group which is  not generat ing revenue from operat ions, means that  profit  and loss is a met ric of less ut ility t han in many other

businesses. For the year to 30 September 2022 the Group recorded a total comprehensive loss of £2,614,873, compared with

£1,465,751 for the year to 30 September 2021. This increase is reflected principally in the impairment of  Danglay Gold project .

The Group’s net assets at  30 September 2022 were £5,849,083 in comparison with £7,657,684 at 30 September 2021.

We have taken measures to preserve cash going forward, including asset  disposals. ECR current ly owns two propert ies in Victoria

at  Nagambie-Rushworth Road, Bailieston and at Brew ing Lane, Springmount  in Creswick. A third property close to Bendigo was

disposed of  dur ing the year in quest ion, raising a fur ther A$950,000 (£550,000) toward our project  explorat ion campaigns. Fur ther

disposals are under consideration, and post  year end, the Company raised a furt her £900,000 before expenses. The Group expect

furt her disposal in 2023, potent ial fundraising and exercising of outstanding warrants can cover our scheduled explorat ion costs for

the foreseeable future.

Finally I would like t o put  on record my thanks to ECR shareholders for t heir cont inued support, and secondly for  the welcome I

have received from so many I have met at  events and shows throughout t he year. I fully expect t o deliver some meaningful results

f rom our key projects in t he coming year, along wit h some real shareholder value.

Andrew Haythorpe

CEO

31 M arch 2023
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Directors’ Biographies

Weili (David) Tang

Non-Executive Chairman (aged 56)

David Tang was previously the President  of China Nonferrous M etals Int ’l M ining Co., Ltd. (CNM IM ) and the M anaging

Director of  China Nonferrous Gold Ltd, an AIM -listed company which was formerly known as Kryso Resources plc. China

Nonferrous Gold is focused on the Pakrut gold mine in Tajikistan, where first  gold was poured in 2015. Mr Tang has previously

served as a director t o several companies involved in mining or explorat ion in Afr ica, South East  Asia and Australia. M r Tang

graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree (1988) majoring in computer science from Central-South University, China and

also holds a M aster of Science degree (1991). In t he 1990s, he pioneered the trading system for the first  nonferrous metals

futures exchange in China. He worked for several years in Canada in investment  management and consult ing, before

returning to China to take up office at  CNMIM in 2003.

Andrew Haythorpe
Chief Executive Officer
Andrew has more than 30 years experience manging listed gold miners and explorers on the ASX and TSX market  as well as

working as a mining analyst  and act ively exploring for gold as a geologist . As a board member with numerous listed mining

companies, he has many years of experience in managing and developing projects. In part icular his time as M anaging Director

of TSX and ASX-listed Crescent Gold Limited saw him develop t he company from an $8 million golf explorer to a $250 million

gold producer w ithin four years. He was also M anaging Director of top performing ASX-listed gold producer M ichelago

Resources. As an analyst, Andrew was considered a global leader in the Industrial Minerals sector and rated 12th best  gold

analyst  at Hartley Poynton Ltd. Along with his new role as CEO of ECR M inerals.

Adam Jones
Non-Executive Director (aged 39)
Adam Jones holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Ballarat  University

and First Class Honours f rom Adelaide Universit y. Adam has over 10

years of experience as a professional geologist in Australia, including

significant  experience of gold explorat ion and product ion, and lives in

Victoria within easy reach of  ECR’s Bailieston and Creswick gold

project s. He is a member of the Australian Instit ute of Geoscientists

(AIG) and has worked as an independent  consulting geologist since

2015. His clients include or have included the A1 gold mine, Dart M ining

and Nagambie Resources in Victor ia and Vendet ta M ining in

Queensland. Adam is experienced in planning and supervising resource

drill programmes, geological interpretation, geotechnical and fault

modelling, geological mapping and sampling, turbidite sequence-

structural interpretat ions, wireframing and 3D modelling using Vulcan

Software.

Andrew Scott
Non-Executive Director (aged 36)
A long-standing finance presenter and broadcaster, Andrew Scot t  is well

known for his extensive body of work across the UK and Australia having

interviewed count less CEOs and direct ors within the natural resources

space alongside fund managers and analysts on their sector outlook,

strategy and broader economic perspect ives. Prior  to joining Proactive,

Andrew worked at Sky World News, Reuters Business and as an editor

on ITV Breakfast.

Dr. Trevor George Davenport
Independent Non-Executive Director (aged 81)
Dr Davenport obtained a BSc (Hons) Geology at  Southampton University, subsequently at taining his M Sc in M ining Geology

and M ineral Explorat ion in 1967, and a PhD in Geology &  Explorat ion Geochemist ry at Leicester Universit y in 1970. In 1971

he at tained the t it le of Chartered Engineer after becoming a Member of The Inst itute of M ining and M etallurgy. Trevor

started off working as a trainee mining engineer in the South Africa gold mines in 1958 before start ing university. Trevor has

63 years of experience working in the geological and mining industry. Trevor’s experience includes working as an
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underground miner , explorat ion geochemist , exploration and mine geologist and as a lecturer t o post -graduate mining

geology students at the University of Leicester. Trevor has experience in explorat ion for and mining of gold, copper/ nickel,

lead/ zinc/ silver, bauxite, chrome and diamonds. Trevor’s experience includes working in Ireland, Canada, Montana (USA),

Portugal, Romania, Uzbekistan, Tajikistan, Burma, Ghana, Botswana, Guyana and South Africa. Trevor was a director, the

exploration manager and chief geologist for Nelson Gold’s, Zeravshan Gold Company in Tajikistan from 1994 unt il end of

1996. From 2004 unt il 2011 he was Non-Execut ive Chairman and director of Kryso Resources Plc. After this he was consulting

for Kryso Resources at the time of the takeover of control of the company by China Nonferrous International M ining Co. Ltd

in 2011. Today Dr Davenport  is a director at  Brix Investments Limited and is also President  of the Alderney Society and a

director of the Alderney Journal.
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St rategic Report

The Direct ors of  t he Com pany present  t heir  St rat egic Repor t  for t he year ended 30 Sept em ber  2022.

Principal Activities

The pr incipal act ivi ty of  t he Group is t he ident ificat ion, acquisit ion, explorat ion and developm ent  of  m ineral  project s. The pr incipal act ivit y

of t he Com pany is t hat  of a holding com pany for  it s subsidiaries and ot her invest ments, al t hough pr oject  developm ent  act ivit ies m ay also

be under t aken direct ly. Whilst  t he Group’s hist or ical focus has been on gold, as is its current  f ocus, it  also considers opport unit ies in

ot her  m ineral  com m odit ies.

The m ain current  area of act ivity is Cent ral Victor ia and Nort h Queensland, Aust ralia.

Future Developments

The Group will cont inue seeking t o advance and add value t o its projects through explorat ion act ivit ies, and, in addit ion, is act ively considering

pot ent ial t ransact ions in relat ion to certain of  its projects, which may create value for the Company and its shareholders.

The Group also cont inues to review pot ent ial new projects on a highly select ive basis, with a concentrat ion on precious, base and strat egic met als.

Organisation Review

The Com pany is incorporat ed in England but  operat es in ot her count r ies t hrough foreign subsidiar ies and cont ract ual arrangem ent s.

Andrew Hayt horpe, Direct or  &  Chief  Execut ive Of f icer  is based in  Pert h, Aust ralia, while W eili Tang, Non-Execut ive Chairman, is based

in Canada, Adam  Jones, Non-Execut ive Direct or, is based in Vict or ia, Aust ralia, Dr Trevor George Davenpor t , is based in Guer nsey and

Andrew  Scot t ,  Non-Execut ive Direct or,  is based in New  Zealand. The corporat e st r uct ure of  t he Group ref lect s it s present  and hist or ical

act ivit ies and t he requirem ent , where appropr iat e, t o have incorporat ed ent it ies in part icular  count r ies.

The Com pany has a w hol ly ow ned Aust ral ian subsidiary nam ed M ercat or  Gold Aust ralia Pt y Lt d (“ M GA” ), w hich was released f rom

ext ernal adm inist rat ion in Decem ber 2014. M GA has accum ulat ed substant ial t ax losses from  it s past  t rading and is t herefore a

suit able vehicle for  any fut ure prof it  generat ive act ivit ies of  t he Group in Aust ralia. M GA w holly owned Aust ralian subsidiary M ercat or

Gold Holding Pt y Lt d

The Com pany also has a whol ly ow ned Aust ral ia subsidiary nam ed Lux Explorat ion Pt y Lt d (“ LUX” ).

The Gr oup’s act ivit ies in t he Philippines are adm inist ered t hrough a 70% m ajor it y shareholding in Philippines Com pany Cordillera Tiger

Gold Resources, Inc. Furt her det ails of  t he Group’s int erest  in t he Philippines can be found under “ Operat ing Review ”  below .

The Direct ors aim  t o ensure t hat  t he Group operat es wit h as low  a cost  base as is pract ical in order t o maxim ise t he am ount  spent  on

m ineral explorat ion and developm ent , in which act ivit ies t he expert ise and exper ience of  t he Direct ors and consult ant s of  t he Group

are em ployed t o add value t o t he Group’s project s. The Com pany has f ive m ale Direct ors, and t wo ot her em ployees. The services of

var ious consult ants are ut ilised t o m eet  t he needs of  t he Group in respect  of  t echnical and ot her  act ivit ies.

The Group’s act ivit ies are f inanced t hrough per iodic capit al raisings, pr incipally t hrough t he placem ent  of  t he Com pany’s ordinary

shares. As t he Group’s project s becom e m or e advanced, ot her  fo rm s of  f inance appropr iat e t o t he st age of  developm ent  and pot ent ial

of  each project  m ay be considered.

Financial & Performance Review

The Group’s ongoing act ivit ies are solely in m ineral explorat ion  and developm ent . It  is not  in product ion at  any of  it s current

project s and hence has no revenue.

For t he year t o 30 Sept ember 2022 t he Group recorded a t ot al com prehensive loss at t ribut able t o shareholders of t he Com pany of

£2,272,658, an increase com pared w it h £1,413,206 for  t he year  t o 30 Sept ember 2021. The largest  cont r ibut or t o t he t ot al

com prehensive loss was im pairment  of Danglay Gold Project .

The Group’s net  asset s as at  30 Sept em ber  2022 w ere £5,849,083 in comparison w it h £7,657,683 at  30 Sept ember 2021.

Explorat ion act ivit y t ook place in Cent ral Vict or ia, Aust ralia dur ing t he year t o 30 Sept em ber 2022, as discussed in t he Chief  Execut ive

Off icers Report  and lat er  under “ Operat ing Review” . Capit alised explorat ion asset s are valued in t he Consolidat ed St at em ent  of

Financial Posit ion at  cost ;  t his value should not  be conf used w it h t he realisable value of  t he r elevant  project s or  be considered t o

det erm ine t he value accorded t o t he pro ject s by t he st ock market , which in bot h cases m ay be considerably dif ferent .

Strategy and Business Model
The Group’s st rat egy is t o locat e and acquire m ineral project s w hich  dem onst rat e good prospect ivit y. The Direct ors select  t hese

project s aft er  a t horough and cr it ical appraisal.  This is needed as in general,  across t he indust ry as a whole, t he percent age of  m ineral

explorat ion and developm ent  project s which go on t o becom e f ully operat ional and pr oducing m ines is relat ively low .

Af t er  acquir ing an int erest  in a project , t he st r at egy is t hen t o leverage t he Group’s com m ercial exper ience and access t o t echnical

exper t ise t o explore and f urt her develop t he project , and in doing so t o creat e value f or t he benef it  of  t he Com pany’s shareholders.

Decisions can t hen be m ade at  appropr iat e t im es as t o w het her t o cont inue t he project  int o product ion, ent er  int o a joint  vent ure

w it h anot her  com pany, or  sell t he project  out r ight .
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Wher e a project  has been disposed of , t he pr oceeds of  t hat  disposal w ill usually be reinvest ed in new  project s. In t he case of  very

signif icant  proceeds f rom  a disposal, t he Direct ors would also consider dist r ibut ions t o shareholders.

The Group’s business m odel is t o be an ef f icient  and successful explorer  and developer  of  m ineral deposit s.

The r ight s t o carry out  t hese act ivit ies m ay be acquired t hrough t he receipt  by t he Group of  licences f rom t he relevant  aut hor it ies, or

by negot iat ing t o acquire r ights fr om  exist ing ow ners. The Group w ill gener ally seek t o acquire such r ights f or low  init ial paym ent s,

w it h any furt her am ount s paid lat er  depending on t he success of  t he project . This enables t he r isk inherent  t o t he Group’s act ivit ies

t o be som ew hat  m it igat ed.

The business model is put  int o pract ice by t he Direct ors, in conjunct ion w it h consult ant s on an as required basis, bot h in t he UK and

overseas. In t his way, overheads can be kept  as low as possible and t he f lexibil it y of  t he Group can be m aint ained.

Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”)

KPIs which apply in m ost  businesses are gener ally not  r elevant  t o m ineral explorat ion and developm ent  com panies w hich, for

exam ple, t ypically have lit t le or  no product  sales.

The Board has previously ident if ied som e key KPIs which are considered of  relevance. These are det ailed below .

Project  developm ent :

The Group report s t he achievem ent  of  explorat ion and developm ent  t arget s, including result s of  explorat ion, def init ion of  explorat ion

targets, and report ing of  m ineral resources and m ineral reserves, using int ernat ionally recognized prot ocols.

Notable out com es of  explorat ion w ork dur ing t he year included a good cross-sect ion of  gold grades and a det ailed underst anding of

t he geology t hat  have in t urn ident if ied furt her t arget s across t he HR3 area at  Bailiest on. Follow ing t he year under r eview , subsequent

result s from  core logging and soil sam ple t est ing indicat e signif icant  developm ent  pot ent ial for HR3.

The int ensive dr ill ing and soil sam pling cam paign at  Cresw ick has also provided us w it h som e good gold grades and again a det ailed

underst anding of  t he nar row vein geology of  t he region, w hich  is sim ilar  in m any w ays t o t he Ballarat  gold m ine locat ed direct ly

sout h.

The st rat egic acquisit ion of  t hree propert ies, (t wo w it hin Bailiest on and t he ot her w it hin t he Cresw ick licence area) has provided our

dr il ling and geology t eam s w it h full access and working r ight s across our  f lagship project s.

End of  year cash balance and at t r ibut able cash resources:

This KPI is of cr it ical importance and it  is a good indicat or of  whether t he Group has sufficient  f inancial resources. The Directors take all necessary

steps to minimise the rat e of cash burn on overheads (com mensurate with ensuring that  the Group’s qualit y standards, including it s human

resources, are not  compromised and t hat  it  has adequate resources, bot h human and otherwise, t o carry out  its act ivit ies). The Group held

£842,889 of cash and cash equivalents at  30 September 2022, versus £2,982,046 at  the beginning of the year. The Directors consider the

performance of the Group in this regard to be in line wit h the act ivit ies required t o fulfil the Group’s work programmes.

Operating Review
As ment ioned above, t he Group’ s current  physical operat ions are locat ed in Cent ral Vict or ia and N Queensland, Aust ralia. At

t he year-end, t he Group held an int erest  in relat ion t o a project  in t he Philippines but  did not  car ry out  signif icant  operat ions in

t hat  jur isdict ion dur ing t he year and has not  done so since t he year-end.

Gold Exploration Projects in Victoria, Australia

At  t he end of  t he financial year  under review , ECR held t hree grant ed m ineral  explorat ion licences in Vict or ia (EL005433,

EL006148 and EL006907). The grant ing of  Creswick licences EL006907 t o t he sout h of  EL006148 links Creswick t o t he Ballarat

East -Ner r ina Goldf ield. ECR holds grant ed explorat ion licence EL5433 at  Bail iest on and post  year end has been grant ed

Bailiest on l icences EK006911 and EL 006912.  At  Tambo ECR ow ns grant ed explorat ion licence EL007484 cover ing Sw if ts Creek

and t he Tam bo River .

ECR holds t hree explorat ion licences (EPM 27901, EPM 27902 and EPM 27903) in t he Lolw ort h area, Nort h Queensland, and

subject  t o exercise of  t he opt ion t o acquire Placer Gold Lt d (Hurr icane Project ), w ill own grant ed explorat ion l icences EPM

27518, EPM  25855 and EPM  19437.

These are augment ed by explorat ion licence applicat ion EL007296 at  Bailiest on, explorat ion l icence applicat ion EL006713 at

Cresw ick and explorat ion licences EL007486 at  Tambo.

In Novem ber  2020, ECR lodged explorat ion l icence appl icat ion EL007537 for  an area w hich surrounds mining licences M IN5396

and M IN4847. These m ining licences, which are not  held by ECR, contain t he operat ing Bal larat  gold mine. The area of  EL007537

includes t he sout hern ext ension of  t he Dim ocks M ain Shale, which  is t he pr incipal t arget  of  explorat ion at  t he Cresw ick gold

project  locat ed a shor t  dist ance t o t he nort h, t he nort hern ext ension of  t he Ballarat  East  l ine and t he dept h ext ensions of  t he

Ballarat  West  l ine. EL007537 is in a com pet it ive bid w i t h t hree ot her applicants.
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Victoria Work Overview:

Bailieston:

The Bailiest on area is sit ed 30 km  east  of  Kir kland Lake Gold’s prolif ic Fosterville gold mine. ECR has dr il led 9,485m at  Bail iest on across several

project s since Jan 2021. Following the discovery of the highest-grade gold intercept  yet  revealed at  the Hist oric Reserve #3 (HR3) prospect , the

t eam completed a series of intensive diam ond drilling campaign at  HR3, including t he prospect ive Byron, Dan Genders, Scoulars and M aori Reefs,

plus numerous cross-st ruct ures. In August  2022, despit e long delays in assay result s f rom t he labs, results from several holes led t o the discovery

of two mineralisat ion cor ridors w ithin the M aori Ant icline at  Historic Reserve 3 (HR3). Post  year end, the f inal gold results from the 2022 HR3 dril l

programme were report ed and along w it h t he earlier result s, t his f ull dataset  is now  undergoing evaluat ion prior before the next  st eps are

announced. Also post  year end, a furt her t wo explorat ion licences were granted at  Bailieston, bringing our t otal land package there t o 179 square

km, including our own property at  Nagambie Rushworth Road, acquired in summ er 2021.

Of part icular interest  is the Blue M oon project  due to its unusual geology and unique mineralizat ion st yle. Blue M oon offers unusually broad w idth

and consist ency (t rue w idth up t o 7m) making it  immediately comm ercially viable. RC drilling in 2019 revealed 11m @ 5.13 g/ t  Au and 21m @ g/ t

Au, w ith mineralisat ion open t o the east, west and dow n-dip. Post  year end an encouraging grade from t he first  Blue M oon drill hole was reported,

and again once all the results are in house, decisions can be made on t he next  steps.

Creswick:

During the summer of 2022, the management  t eam came t o London where our CEO presented our investment  case at  the Proact ive One 2 One

event . Post  year end, our CEO ret urned to London t o at t end 121 M ining Investm ent  and M ines and M oney. On each visit  a substant ial amount  of

invest or int erest  was cent red around Creswick in t he wake of w orks and drilling undertaken t here since 2019. It  is also here at  Springmount  that

ECR ow ns a second propert y w it h some hist orical mine workings on the property. Following Andrew Hayt horpe’s init ial visit  t o t he Creswick

t enements with Technical Director Adam Jones earlier t his year, he was convinced that  t he Creswick diamond drill core should be re-assayed. This

proved t o be a good decision, and just  post  year end, the re assay revealed high grade results including 0.7m @47.75 g/ t  Au. Our key licence t here

was renewed during t he year for a furt her 5 years, and along with the grant  of t he adjacent  Ballarat  East  Nerrina Goldfield license, armed wit h t he

re assay data our team are gearing up for a new focus on Creswick in 2023.

Tambo:

There are two explorat ion licence applicat ions in eastern Victoria, known as the Tambo project . Licence EL007484 covering the Tambo River and

Swifts Creek region was granted in December 2021, and this ter rit ory w ill also be in focus for explorat ion in 2023. The t errit ory covers port ions of

t he hist or ic Sw if ts Creek/ Om eo and Tam bo River Goldfields t hat  have a recorded hist or ical gold product ion t ot al l ing 225,000 oz (Geological

Survey of Vict or ia). The t errit ory is considered t o be prospect ive for  orogenic reef  gold and addi t ionally f or  int rusion-relat ed gold and base

m etal systems. W ork w i ll  comm ence here in Q1 2023.
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N Queensland Work Overview:

Lolworth Range

The Lolw ort h Range area in Nor t h Queensland has been closely m onit ored by ECR’ s Head Geologist  Adam  Jones f or  at  least  eight  years and

is considered prospect ive for gold. In February 2022, explorat ion l icences for t enem ent s EPM 27901, EPM 27902 and EPM 27903 w ere grant ed

(t hey w ill exp ire in five years on 31 January 2027). ECR has a com m it ment  expendit ure of  AUD$650,000 for t he f irst  t hree years across t he

t hree licence areas, and our t eam w ast ed no t im e in get t ing on t he ground t here, undert aking a comprehensive st ream sediment  sam pl ing

cam paign, w it h some impressive resul ts announced post  year  end t hat  revealed a highly encouraging 14% visible gold st r ike rat e across t he

f irst  125 st ream sedim ent  samples. Furt her  anomalies including t in and t ungst en t races, plus m ult iple pegm at it es (pot ent ial l it hium sources)

w ere observed t here, and while we awai t  t he remaining sam ple result s, Adam  Jones is put t ing t oget her a follow  up plan of  act ion.

Hurricane Project (Post Year End)

Post  year end, ECR was grant ed a condit ional opt ion t o acquire t he ent ire issued share capital of Placer Gold Pt y Ltd, t he beneficial holder of t hree

granted mining tenements (EPM  27518, EPM  25855 and EPM  19437) located in NE Queensland, toget her known as t he Hurricane Project . This is a

project  for which our CEO possesses detailed knowledge of through his w ork w it h New  Energy M inerals Lt d prior t o joining ECR. Hurricane was

discovered 5 years ago by a geologist  who followed the Hodgkinson River t ributar ies to t heir source and discovered numerous gold veins at  surface

wit h grades ranging f rom 1- 20g/ t  over widths of 0.5-7m. ECR has a condit ional opt ion to buy outright  for cash and shares in 2023, and with a

modest  A$200,000 spend commitment , now has a dril ling campaign planned t here for July 2023. The acquisit ion will  complete subject  t o those

results. The Board consider Hurr icane t o be a late-st age explorat ion project  w it h three tenements all highly prospect ive for gold and ant imony.

Danglay Gold Project, Philippines

In December 2021, ECR formalised its 25% shareholding in Cordillera Tiger Gold Resources, owner of Explorat ion License EP-006 at  t he Danglay

Gold Project , N Philippines. The project  is located in a prolific gold and copper mining dist rict  in t he north of the Phi lippines. April 2022 saw ECR

acquire further shares from an exist ing shareholder t o take a majorit y 70% stake in the project , bringing the nascent  value at  Danglay back t o the

fore on the ECR balance sheet. Wit h our focus very much on Australia, several opt ions are being explored to crystall ize value, which will be reported

back to t he markets in due course.

Avoca and Timor Exploration Licence Royalties

In April 2020 M GA entered into an agreement  for the sale of Avoca and Timor explorat ion licences EL5387, EL006280, EL006913 and EL006278 in

Victoria to Currawong Resources Pty Lt d, a w holly owned subsidiary of Fost erville Sout h Explorat ion Lt d. A cash payment  of US$500,000 was

received, and ECR is ent it led to:

1. A further payment  of  A$1 f or every ounce of gold or gold equivalent  of measured resource, indicat ed resource or inferred resource est imated

wit hin the area of one or more of  the licences in any combinat ion or aggregat ion of the foregoing, up t o a maximum of A$1,000,000 in aggregate;

2. A further paym ent  of A$1 for every ounce of gold or gold equivalent  produced from within the area of one or more of t he licences, up to a

maxim um of A$1,000,000 in aggregate.

SLM  Gold Project Royalties

In February 2020, t he Company sold its wholly owned Argent ine subsidiary Ochre M ining SA, which holds the SLM  gold project  in La Rioja, Argent ina.

The sale allows ECR to focus on it s core gold explorat ion act ivit ies in Australia.  The purchaser, Hanaq Argent ina SA (“ Hanaq” ), is a Chinese-owned

com pany engaged in lit hium, base and precious metals explorat ion in Nort hwest  Argent ina including Salta, Jujuy and La Rioja, wit h a highly

experienced management  t eam.

ECR retains an NSR royalty of  up to 2% t o a maximum of  USD 2.7 million in respect  of future product ion from t he SLM  gold project , owned by Hanaq

Argent ina SA (Hanaq).  The Direct ors believe that  Hanaq has the operat ional capabilit ies and access t o Chinese invest ment  capital necessary t o put

t he SLM  project  int o product ion, subject  to t he usual prerequisites such as further explorat ion and feasibilit y st udies being successfully completed

(if  deemed necessary by Hanaq) and to t he necessary permits for product ion being obt ained.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Direct ors regular ly r eview  t he r isks and uncert aint ies t o which t he Group is exposed and seek t o ensure t hat  t hese r isks and

uncert aint ies are, as far as possible, m inim ised.

The Direct ors have ident if ied t he pr incipal r isks and uncert aint ies facing t he Group and t hese are set  out  below .

Explorat ion Risk

M ineral explorat ion is, by it s nat ure, speculat ive, and as m ent ioned ear lier t he num ber of  such project s w hich develop int o

m ining operat ions is relat ively low . There is no cert aint y t hat  t he Group’s explorat ion projects can be econom ically exploit ed

and no cert aint y t hat  t his w ill enhance shareholder  value. If  t he Direct ors ult im at ely decide t hat  a prospect  has no econom ic

fut ure and t hey are unable t o sell it  on, t he cost s incurred t o dat e w ould be w r it t en of f  in t he Consolidat ed Incom e
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St at em ent  in t he year in which t he decision t o discont inue explorat ion operat ions is m ade.

Development Risk

All  m ineral explorat ion and developm ent  project s may be subject  t o delays and/ or unf oreseen di ff icult ies ar ising from  bad w eather,

nat ural disast ers, non-availabi lit y or  delayed avai labil it y of  licences or  perm it s, changes in t he t erm s on w hich key l icences or  perm its

are available, com m issioning of  operat ions, and t he raising of  f inance, am ong ot her  fact ors. The r isk of  delays and unforeseen

dif f icult ies is m it igat ed w hen pract ical  and legal t o do so. How ever, t he r isk rem ains t hat  such fact ors m ay render a project  unfeasible,

or  not  econom ically feasible.

Commodity Prices

Changes in t he spot  and forw ard pr ices of  t he relevant  m ineral  com m odit y can aff ect  t he econom ic viabil it y of  a project  at

any st age in its lif e cycle.

Resource Risk

M ineral deposit s are evaluat ed by t heir  size, grade and by ot her  param et ers, and m ineral resources and reserves are

t ypically calculat ed in accordance wit h accept ed indust ry standards and codes. Nevert heless, t here is always som e level of

uncert aint y in t he under lying assum pt ions. The Board keeps t hese assum pt ions under const ant  review  and ad just s t he

Group’ s developm ent  st rat egy accordingly.

M ining & Processing Technical Risk

Variat ions can occur unexpect edly in t he t echnical param et ers of  a project  and can considerably alt er  it s econom ic viabilit y,

despit e t he Direct ors t aking as m any precaut ions (such as conf irm at ory dr i lling, m etal lurgical  t est  w ork and f easibil it y

st udies) as is sensible.

Environmental Risks

Changes in legislat ion and t he r isk of  environm ental damage can give r ise t o unplanned environm ent al liabilit ies or t hreat en

t he cont inuit y of  a project  at  any st age in  it s lif e cycle. The environm ent al param et ers of  all project s are considered car ef ully

so as t o m inim ise t hese r isks.

Financing Risk

This ar ises when despit e it s best  ef fort s t he Group f inds it self  unable t o raise t he requisit e f inance on it s opt im al t im escale,

or  at  all. As a r esult , project  developm ent  m ay be eit her delayed or  suspended pending t he raising of  f inance, and t he lack

t hereof  m ay t hreat en t he r ight s of  t he Group in t he event  t he Group is unable t o m eet  it s com m it m ent s.

The Direct ors aim  t o plan far  enough ahead t o ensure an order ly t im ing of  f inance raising act ivit ies in order t o ensure, as far

as pract ical, t hat  t he Group has suf f icient  liquidit y t o enable pro ject s t o proceed as planned.

Partner Risks

Any joint  vent ur e arrangement  cont ains an element  of  count erpart y r isk, par t icularly as t o t he financial st at us of  t he joint  vent ur e

part ner or  t o it s level of  part icipat ion in t he joint  vent ur e, and t hese issues can ult imat ely lead t o t he failure of t he joint  vent ur e.

There is a need t o m aint ain good working relat ions w it h t he Gr oup’s joint  vent ure part ners and t o m onit or t heir  involvem ent  and

financial  condit ion on a regular basis.

Political &  Regulatory Risk

This t akes m any forms and can exist  in developed count r ies (enhanced environm ent al requirem ent s, changes in t axat ion, et c.) as well

as less developed count r ies (civil unrest , governm ent  expropr iat ion of  m ineral asset s, corrupt ion etc.). Risks of  t his nat ure have

aff ect ed t he Com pany’ s int erest  in t he Danglay gold project  in t he Phi lippines, w here uncert aint y r egarding governm ent  policy t owards

t he m ining sect or  cont inues t o act  as a brake on t he developm ent  of  t he indust ry.

Internal Control &  Risk M anagement

The Direct ors are responsible for  t he Com pany’s int ernal cont rol syst em s. Whilst  no syst em  can give absolut e assurance

against  m at er ial loss or  m isst at em ent , t he Group’s processes are designed, w it hin t he conf ines of t he l im it ed num ber of

personnel em ployed, t o provide reasonable assurance t hat  issues are ident if ied and dealt  w it h in a t im ely m anner.

The on-going f inancial perform ance of  t he Group is m onit ored regular ly,  r isks are ident if ied and w here necessary adjust m ent s
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are m ade as ear ly as is possible. The Board, subject  t o t he necessary shareholder  aut hor it y, regular ly r eviews capit al

invest m ent , project  acquisit ions and disposals, borrow ing facilit ies (if  any), insurance and any guarant ee arrangem ent s.

Forward Looking Statements

This Annual Report  &  Account s 2022 m ay include forward looking st at em ent s. Such st at em ent s m ay be sub ject  t o a num ber

of  know n and unknown r isks, uncert aint ies and ot her fact ors t hat  could cause act ual result s or  events t o dif fer  mat er ially

f rom  current  expect at ions. There can be no assurance t hat  such st at em ent s w ill prove t o be accurat e and t herefore act ual

r esult s and f ut ure event s could dif fer  m at er ially from  t hose ant icipat ed in such st at em ents.

Accordingly, readers should not  place undue reliance on forw ard looking stat em ent s. Any forw ard-looking stat em ent s

cont ained herein speak only as of  t he dat e hereof  (unless st at ed ot herw ise) and, except  as m ay be required by applicable

laws or  regulat ions (including t he AIM  Rules for  Com panies), t he Com pany and t he Group disclaim any obligat ion t o updat e

or m odify such f orward-looking st at em ent s as a result  of  new  inform at ion, fut ure event s or  f or  any ot her r eason.

Corporate Governance

Since Sept em ber 2018, all AIM -quot ed com panies have been required t o apply a r ecognised corporat e governance code. The

Com pany has chosen t he Quot ed Com panies Alliance (QCA) Corporat e Governance Code published in Apr il 2018 for  t his purpose.

High st andards of  corporat e gover nance are a pr ior it y for  t he Board, and det ails of  how  ECR addresses t he key governance pr inciples

def ined in t he QCA code are set  out  below , and on t he Com pany’s websit e in accordance w it h AIM  Rule 26.

Deliver growth

1. Strategy and business model

ECR’s business m odel and st rat egy t o deliver  shareholder  value are set  out  in t his St rat egic Report , t oget her w it h t he Company’s

values and r isk m anagem ent  approach.

2. Understanding and meeting shareholder needs and expectations

The Com pany m aint ains a cont act  form  on it s websit e which invest ors can use t o cont act  t he Com pany. This f orm  is prom inent ly

displayed on t he Com pany’s websit e t oget her  w it h it s address and phone num ber.
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Annual general m eet ings are held, which all m em bers have t he r ight  t o at t end, and dur ing each annual general m eet ing, t im e is set

aside specif ically t o allow  quest ions f rom  at t ending m em bers t o be addressed t o t he Board.  As t he Company is t oo sm all t o have a

dedicat ed invest or  relat ions depart m ent , t he CEO is responsib le for  review ing all com m unicat ions received f rom  m em bers and

det erm ining t he m ost  appropr iat e response. In addit ion t o t hese passive m easures, t he CEO t ypically engages w it h m em bers t hrough

invest or show s once or t w ice each year, which seem s t o be ef fect ive.

3. Stakeholder and social responsibilities

In addit ion t o it s m em bers, t he Com pany recognises t hat  it s m ain st akeholder groups are it s em ployees, consult ant s and cont ract ors,

and t he com m unit ies and governm ent al aut hor it ies where t he Com pany and it s subsidiar ies operat e. Where necessary, t he Com pany

dedicat es signif icant  t im e t o underst anding and act ing on t he needs and requirem ent s of  each of  t hese groups. Board m em bers

assess t he needs and requirem ent s of  t he Com pany’ s st akeholders as and when t hey int eract  w it h each st akeholder group, usually

t hrough meet ings and dialogue, and m at t ers are t hen be raised at  Board level f or appropr iat e act ion.

W it h regard t o corporat e social responsibil it y, t he Board is aware of  t he im pact  t he act ivit ies of  t he Com pany and it s subsidiar ies m ay

have on t he com m unit ies in which t hey operat e, and aim s t o ensure t his im pact  is posit ive.

4. Risk management

The Com pany operat es in t he m ineral explorat ion and developm ent  sect or , w hich is generally high r isk but  can provide except ionally

high ret urns for shareholders. The Company m aint ains a r egist er  of  r isks across a num ber of  cat egor ies including personnel,

com pet it ion, f inance, environment al, polit ical, t echnical and legal.

The r isks are ident if ied on an annual basis and discussed w it h t he audit ors, and kept  up t o dat e w it h t he aid of  r egular  discussions at

Board level. For each r isk t he Board est imat es t he pot ent ial im pact  and likelihood of  adverse event s, and ident if ies m it igat ing

st rat egies. This r egist er is reviewed per iodically as t he Com pany’s sit uat ion changes and at  a m inim um  annually t o det erm ine whet her

t he syst em s in place are ef fect ive or  need updat ing.

Maintain a dynamic management framework

5. Board structure

The Boar d of  Direct ors com pr ises four Direct ors, one of  w hom is Chairman as of  t he year end. In addit ion, t here is an Execut ive Direct or

Adam  Jones, w ho also serves as Geological Direct or, an Independent  Non-Execut ive Direct or , Trevor Davenport  and a Non-Execu t ive

Director, Andrew Scot t .

Under t he Com pany’ s art icles of associat ion, each direct or m ust  periodically offer  himself for re-elect ion by vot e of t he mem bers at  t he

Com pany’ s annual general m eet ing.

The Board, t hrough t he Chairm an and Non-Execut ive Direct ors, maint ains regular  cont act  w it h its advisers and public relat ions consul t ants

in order t o ensure t hat  t he Board develops an underst anding of t he views of  m ajor  shareholders about  t he Company. During t he past  t w elve

mont hs t her e have been 10 f ormal board m eet ings and al l direct ors in off ice at  t he relevant  t ime at t ended.

6. Board diversity and experience

The individuals who have been appoint ed t o t he Board have been chosen because of  t he skills and exper ience t hey of f er . The Direct ors are

of t he opinion t hat  t he Board com pr ises a suit able balance of  resource sect or , t echnical, f inancial, account ing, legal  and public m arket s skil ls

as wel l as experience of  t he Board as a w hole and t hat  t he recom mendat ions of  t he QCA Cor porat e Governance Code have been

im plem ent ed t o an appr opr iat e level. The m em bers of  t he Board at  t he present  t im e are l ist ed earlier in t his annual repor t , t oget her w it h

an out line of  t heir exper ience, ski l ls and personal qualit ies relevant  t o t he Com pany’ s business.

The diverse exper ience and exper t ise of t he direct ors is int ended t o ensur e t hat  t he Board has t he skil ls and capabi lit ies t o manage t he

Com pany for t he benef it  of shareholders over t he m edium t o long t erm .

The Com pany has no specif ic advisers t o t he board ot her  t han it s lawyers and AIM  nominat ed adviser . W eili Tang t em porar ily act s in  t he

role of  Com pany Secret ary.

7. Board performance & evaluation

The cont racts of engagem ent  f or  t he Com pany’s non-execut ive direct ors rout inely require t hat  t hey devot e such of  t heir t im e as is

reasonably necessary t o perfor m t heir  dut ies. In addit ion, t hey may provide paid consult ing ser vices in respect  of w ork going beyond t he

role of  a non-execut ive director. The Com pany not es t hat  best  pract ice under t he QCA code is t o have at  least  half  t he Board made up of

independent  non-execut ive direct ors.

Evaluat ion of  t he perform ance of  t he Board has histor ically been im plem ent ed in an inform al manner . In t he fut ure how ever, t he Board  w il l

formally review  and consider  t he per formance of  each direct or  at  o r around t he t ime of  t he Com pany’s annual general  meet ing using

a process which is current ly under developm ent .

On an ongoing basis, Board m em bers maint ain a wat ching br ief  t o ident ify relevant  int ernal and ext ernal candidat es w ho may be suit able

addit ions t o or  backup for current  Board m em bers, however t he Board considers t hat  t he Com pany is t oo small t o have an int ernal

succession plan and t hat  i t  w ould not  be cost  ef fect ive t o maint ain an ext ernal candidat e list  pr ior  t o t he need ar ising.
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8. Corporate culture

The Board bel ieves t hat  t he prom ot ion of  a corporat e cult ure based on sound et hical values and behaviours is essent ial t o maxim ise

shareholder value in t he m edium t o long t erm. Adher ence t o t hese st andards is a key fact or  in t he evaluat ion of  per form ance w it hin t he

Com pany, including dur ing annual per formance reviews. In addit ion , st aff mat t ers are a st anding t opic at  every Board m eet ing and t he CEO

report s on any not able exam ples of  behaviours t hat  eit her  align w it h or  are at  odds w it h t he Com pany’s st at ed values. The Board bel ieves

t hat  t he Com pany’ s cult ure encourages col laborat ive, et hical behaviour  which benef i ts em ployees and shareholders. The Board fur t her

believes t hat  all em ployees and consul t ants w orked in line w it h t he Com pany’ s values dur ing t he f inancial year ended 30 Sept em ber 2022

and since. This has been assessed by t he Board in t he course of  t he day-t o-day managem ent  of t he Com pany, w hich is f easible given t he

relat ively smal l size of t he organisat ion.

9. Governance structures

Due t o t he size of  t he Company all st rategic and major com m ercial mat t ers are reserved for t he Board.

The key Board r oles are as fo llows:

Chair : The pr imary responsibil it y of  t he Chair  is t o lead t he Board effect ively and t o oversee t he adopt ion, del ivery and com municat ion of

t he Company’s corporat e governance m odel. The Chair  has suf f icient  separat ion f rom  t he day- t o-day business t o be able t o m ake

independent  decisions.

The Chair  is also responsible for  making sure t hat  t he Board agenda concent rat es on t he key issues, bot h operat ional  and f inancial, w it h

regular review s of  t he Com pany’s st r ategy and i ts overall im plem entat ion.

Chief  Execut ive Off icer (CEO): Charged w it h t he im plem ent at ion of  t he st rat egy set  by t he Board. W orks w ith t he Chair and non-execut ives

in an open and t ransparent  way. Keeps t he Chair and t he Board as a whole up-t o-dat e w it h operat ional  perf ormance, r isks and ot her issues

t o ensure t hat  t he business remains aligned w it h t he st rat egy.

The Board has t wo com m it t ees. They are as follows:

Audit  com m it t ee: The audit  comm it t ee m eet s t o consider m at t ers relat ing t o t he Company’s f inancial posit ion and f inancial report ing.

The com m it t ee reviews t he independence and object ivit y of  t he ext ernal audit ors, PKF Lit t lejohn LLP, as well as t he am ount  of  non-

audit  w ork undert aken by t hem , t o sat isfy it self  t hat  t his wi ll  not  com prom ise t heir  independence. Det ails of  t he fees paid t o PKF

Lit t lejohn LLP dur ing each f inancial year are given in t he annual account s. The audit  com m it t ee current ly com pr ises David Tang (Non-

Execut ive Chairm an), Adam  Jones (Non-Execut ive Direct or), Dr Trevor George Davenpor t  (Independent  Direct or) and Andrew  Scot t

(Non-Execut ive Direct or).

Rem unerat ion com m it t ee: The rem unerat ion com m it t ee has been established pr im ar ily t o det erm ine t he rem unerat ion, t erms and

condit ions of  em ploym ent  of  t he execut ive direct ors of  t he Com pany. Any rem unerat ion issues concerning non-execut ive direct ors

are also resolved by t his com m it t ee, alt hough no direct or  part icipat es in decisions t hat  concern his own rem unerat ion. The

rem unerat ion com m it t ee com prises David Tang (Non-Execut ive Chairm an) Adam  Jones (Execut ive Direct or), Dr Trevor George

Davenpor t  (Independent  Direct or) and Andrew  Scot t  (Non-Execut ive Dir ect or).

Due t o t he nat ure of  t he size of  t he Com pany all m ajor operat ional decisions are reserved for  t he Board. For t he sam e reason, m at t ers

delegat ed t o com m it t ees of  t he Board have been dealt  w it h dur ing t he course of  ordinary board m eet ings, w it h no separat e m eet ings

having been held dur ing t he year for t he individual com m it t ees. The appropr iat eness of  t he Com pany’s governance st ruct ures w ill be

reviewed as t he Com pany evolves, and changes m ade as necessary.

Dur ing t he past  t welve m ont hs t here have been 10 f ormal commit t ee m eet ings and all d irect ors in at  t he relevant  t ime at t ended.

Build trust

10. Stakeholder communication

On t he Com pany’s websit e shareholders can f ind all hist or ical regulat ory announcem ent s, not ices of  general m eet ings, governance-

relat ed m at er ials, int er im  report s and annual report s. Annual report s and not ices of  general m eet ings are post ed direct ly t o all

r egist ered shareholders, and t he out com e of  general m eet ings is disclosed in a clear and t ransparent  m anner via regulat ory

announcem ent s.

As descr ibed ear lier , t he Com pany also m aint ains w eb-based and phone contacts w hich shareholders can use t o m ake enquir ies or

r equest s.

Corporate Responsibility

The Board regular ly review s t he signif icance of  social, environm ent al and et hical m at t ers af fect ing t he Gr oup’s operat ions. It  considers

t hat  t he Group is not  yet  at  a st age where a specif ic corporat e social responsibilit y policy is required, in view  of  t he lim it ed num ber of

stakeholder s, ot her t han shareholders. Inst ead, t he Board pr o t ect s t he Gr oup’s int erest s and t hose of  it s st akeholder s t hrough

individual policies and t hrough et hical and t ransparent  business dealings.

The Board has adopt ed an Ant i-Br ibery and Corrupt ion Policy.
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Shareholders

The Board seeks t o prot ect  shareholders’  int erests at  all t im es by operat ing in accordance w it h t he corporat e governance

arrangem ent s set  out  above, and by ensur ing t hat  each Board decision is t aken w it h due r egard t o t he int erest s of  shareholder s as a

whole. In addit ion t o m aking appropr iat e news releases and publishing f inancial report s, t he Dir ect ors encourage com m unicat ion w it h

shareholders at  annual general  m eet ings and by part icipat ing in invest or  present at ions, Q& A sessions and via social  m edia.

Environment

M ineral explorat ion and developm ent  has t he pot ent ial t o adversely im pact  t he envir onm ent  in w hich it  t akes place. The Group t akes

it s environm ent al responsibi lit ies ser iously and t he environm ent al param et ers of  t he act ivit ies of  t he Group are considered caref ul ly

so as t o m inim ise t he r isk of  adverse environm ent al ef fects.

Human Rights

The act ivit ies of  t he Group are carr ied out  in accordance w it h all applicable laws on hum an r ight s and w it h genuine m oral concern

for all st akeholders.

Employees

The Group seeks t o rem unerat e it s em ployees fair ly, of fers f lexib le w orking arrangem ent s where pract ical and encourages em ployees

t o gain exposure t o all aspect s of  t he Group’s business. The Group gives f ull and fair  considerat ion t o applicat ions f or  em ploym ent

received regardless of  age, gender, colour, et hnicit y, disabilit y, nat ionalit y, religious beliefs, t ransgender stat us or  sexual or ient at ion.

It  considers t he int erest s of  em ployees w hen m aking decisions and w elcom es suggest ions f rom  em ployees which have t he pot ent ial

t o im prove t he Group’s perf orm ance.

Suppliers & Contractors

The Board recognises t he im port ance of  m aintaining t he goodw ill  of  i ts cont ract ors, consult ants and suppliers, and encourages t his

t hrough fair dealings. The Group has a prom pt  paym ent  policy and seeks t o ensure al l liabilit ies are set t led w it hin t he t erms agreed

w it h t hat  supplier .

Health & Safety

The act ivi t ies of t he Group are carried out  in accordance w it h al l appl icable law s on heal t h &  saf et y.

Section 172 Statement

The Direct ors believe t hey have act ed in the way m ost  likely t o promote t he success of the Group and Company for t he benef it  of it s members as a

whole, as required by s172 of the Companies Act  2006.

The requirements of s172 are for the Directors to:

 Consider the likely consequences of any decision in t he long t erm;

 Act  fairly bet ween the mem bers of  t he Company;

 M aint ain a reputat ion for high st andards of business conduct ;

 Consider the interest s of  the Com pany’s employees;

 Foster the Company’s relat ionships wit h suppliers, customers and ot hers; and

 Consider the impact  of t he Company’s operat ions on the communit y and t he environment.

The Group’s operat ions and st rat egic aims are set  out  throughout  the Strat egic Report  and in t he Chief  Execut ive Off icer Report , and relat ionships

wit h stakeholders are also dealt  w it h in the Corporat e Governance stat ement .

This St rat egic Report  was approved by t he Dir ect ors on 31 M arch 2023.

Weili (David) Tang

Non-Execut ive Direct or/  Chai rman

31 M arch 2023
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Principal Activities

A f ull review of  signif icant  mat t ers, including likely f ut ure developm ent s, is cont ained in t he Chairm an’s St at em ent , Chief  Execut ive

Of f icer  and t he St rat egic Repor t .

Det ails of  signif icant  event s af t er t he report ing dat e are also disclosed in Not e 21 t o t he f inancial st at em ent s.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

At  t he dat e of  t his report , alt hough t he w orst  ravages of  t he COVID-19 pandem ic are past  us, many count r ies cont inue t o

exper ience severe disrupt ion. For t he m ost  part , t he suspension of  int ernat ional t ravel r out es as well as dom est ic m ovem ent

rest r ict ions w it hin t he UK is not  af f ect ing t he Group’s operat ions. In Aust ralia and Vict or ia, lockdow ns and m ovem ent  rest r ict ions

have delayed assay result s and laborat ory analysis at  t im es dur ing t he last  year how ever, explorat ion and m ining is considered

essent ial services and t herefore t here has been relat ively lit t le disrupt ion t o operat ions.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Group does not  present ly hold any forward or  hedge posit ions in eit her currency or  m inerals. Current ly t hese are not  deem ed

necessary, but  t his is review ed f rom  t im e t o t im e. There is inherent  r isk in operat ing bet ween dif ferent  cur rencies, pr incipally GBP

and AUD, and t he Board m onit ors and reviews t his exposure on a r egular  basis.

The Board recognises t he Group’s exposure t o liquidit y r isk and t hat  t he Group’s abilit y t o cont inue it s operat ions is dependent  on it

having or  acquir ing suf f icient  cash resources. The Board cont inually monit ors t he Group’s cash posit ion and m ay realise all or  part  of

t he Group’s invest m ent s in order t o m aint ain t he abilit y of  t he Group t o m eet  it s obligat ions as t hey fall due.

The locat ion of  t he Group’s pr incipal act ivit ies is curr ent ly in Aust ralia and it s corporat e base is in t he Unit ed Kingdom . These locat ions

are considered st able w it h advanced econom ic and legal inf rast ruct ures.

Furt her det ails of  t he Group’s f inancial r isk m anagem ent  object ives and policies are set  out  in Not e 18 t o t he f inancial st at em ent s.

Position of the Company and Going Concern

It  is t he prim e responsibili ty of  t he Board t o ensure t he Group and Company r em ains a going concer n.  At  17 Febr uary 2023, t he Group  has

cash and cash equivalent s of  £612,582 and no borrow ings.

The Group’s f inancial  project ions and cash f low  forecasts cover ing a per iod of  at  least  t welve mont hs f rom t he dat e of  appr oval  of  t hese

financial stat ements show  t hat  t he Group ant icipat e having t o raise addit ional  funding over  t he course of  t he f inancial year t o ensure

suff icient  available funds in order  t o m eet  it s cont ract ed and com mit ted expendit ure.

Having consider ed t he prepared cashf low forecast s and t he Gr oup budgets, w hich includes t he possibi lit y of  Direct or s cut t ing expenses in

certain area of  operat ions if  r equired, t he progress in act ivi t ies post  year-end, including t he ant icipat ed sale of  propert ies held in Aust ralia

and sale of  t he Phil ippines, t he Direct ors consider  t hat  t hey w ill  have access t o adequat e resources in t he 12 mont hs f r om t he dat e of  t he

signing of  t hese Financial  St at ement s. As a r esult , t hey consider  it  appropr iat e t o cont inue t o adopt  t he going concern basis in t he pr eparat ion

of  t he Financial St at ement s.

Should t he Gr oup be unable raise addit ional  funding in t he t imescales necessary t o cont inue t r ading as a going concern, adjust m ents w ou ld

have t o be made t o reduce t he value of  t he assets t o t heir  r ecoverable amount s, t o provide for  f ur t her  liabi li t ies, which might  ar ise, and t o

classify non-current  assets as cur r ent .

The Financial St at ement s have been prepared on t he going concern basis and do not  include t he adjust m ent s t hat  w ould result  if  t he Group

was unable t o cont inue as a going concern.

Ther ein are set  out  cert ain forward looking stat em ent s t hat  have been m ade by t he Direct ors in good fait h. By t he nat ure of  t hese

stat em ent s t her e can be no cert aint y t hat  any or  all predict ions w ill be m et . Such st at em ents m ay be subject  t o a num ber of  know n

and unknown r isks, uncert aint ies and ot her  fact ors t hat  could cause act ual result s or  event s t o dif fer  m at er ially f rom cur rent

expect at ions. There can be no assurance t hat  such stat em ent s w i ll prove t o be accurat e and t heref ore act ual result s and fut ure event s

could dif fer  m at er ially f rom  t hose ant icipat ed in such st at em ent s.

Accordingly, r eaders should not  place undue reliance on forw ard looking st at em ent s. Any f orward looking st at em ent s cont ained

herein speak only as of  t he dat e hereof  (unless st at ed ot herw ise) and, except  as m ay be r equir ed by applicable laws or  regulat ions

(including t he AIM  Rules f or  Companies), t he Com pany disclaim s any obligat ion t o updat e or  m odif y such f orward looking stat em ents

as a result  of  new  inform at ion, fut ure event s or  f or  any ot her r eason.

Dividends

The result s f or  t he year are set  out  in t he Consolidat ed Incom e St at em ent . No dividend is proposed in respect  of  t he year (2021:

nil). The Group loss for  t he year of  £2,614,873 (2021 loss of  £1,465,751) has been t aken t o reserves t oget her w it h t he ot her

com prehensive incom e and loss.
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Directors

The Direct ors who served dur ing t he year and t o t he dat e of  t his report  w ere:

Weili  (David) Tang

Adam  Jones

Dr Trevor  George Davenport

Andrew Scot t  (appoint ed 24 January 2022)

Under t he Com pany’s Art icles of  Associat ion, at  every annual general m eet ing of  t he Com pany, any Direct or:

• w ho has been appoint ed by t he Board since t he dat e of t he last  annual general m eet ing; or

• w ho held of f ice at  t he t ime of  t he t w o preceding annual general m eet ings and did not  ret ire at  eit her of  t hem ; or

• w ho has held of f ice w it h t he Com pany as a non–execut ive Direct or  (t hat  is, he has not  been em ployed by t he Com pany or  held

execut ive of f ice)  for  a cont inuous per iod of  nine years or m ore at  t he dat e of  t he m eet ing:

shall ret ire f rom of fice and m ay offer him self for elect ion/  re–elect ion by t he mem bers.

Tot al Direct ors’  em olum ent s are disclosed in Not e 6 t o t he f inancial stat em ent s and det ails of  t he share opt ions grant ed t o Dir ect or s

are disclosed below .

The Direct ors w ill com ply w it h Rule 21 of  t he AIM  rules and t he M arket  Abuse Regulat ion relat ing t o Direct ors’  deal ings and w ill

t ake al l reasonable st eps t o ensure com pliance by t he Group’s applicable employees.

Directors’ Interests

Direct ors w ho held off ice at  30 Sept ember 2022 held t he follow ing benef icial  int erest s, ei t her direct ly or  indirect ly (including int erest s

held by spouses, m inor chi ldren or  associat ed part ies) in t he ordinary shares of  t he Company.

Addi t ional ly, Direct ors of  t he Company who held of f ice at  30 Sept em ber 2022 held t he follow ing share opt ions grant ed under  t he

Com pany’ s unapproved share opt ion scheme:

Options  Date Expiry       Exercise

Issued           Issued            Date             Price

Adam  Jones      5,000,000    23/ 01/ 2022   22/ 01/ 2027  £0.022

Andrew  Scot t    5,000,000    23/ 01/ 2022   22/ 01/ 2027  £0.022

Andrew  Scot t  10,000,000    23/ 01/ 2022   22/ 01/ 2027  £0.044

David Tang     10,000,000    23/ 01/ 2022    22/ 01/ 2027  £0.022

Share Capital and Substantial Share Interests

On 17 February 2023, t he Com pany was aware of  t he f ollow ing holdings of 3% or  m ore in Com pany’s issued ordinary share

capital of  1,167,441,705 ordinary shares of £0.00001 each.

Regist ered Shar eholder Number of  shar es Holding

Barclays Direct  Invest ing Nominees Limited 128,194,799 10.98

Hargreaves Lansdown Nominees Limit ed 115,034,384   9.85

Int eract ive Investor Services Nominees Limit ed 105,882,906   9.07

JIM  Nominees Limited   93,000,513   7.97

The Bank of New York (Nominees) Limit ed   92,268,566   7.90

Interact ive Invest or Services Nominees Limited   82,687,109   7.08

Int eract ive Investor Services Nominees Limit ed   64,078,679   5.49

Hargreaves Lansdown Nominees Limit ed   56,082,157   4.80

HSDL Nominees Limited   53,804,016   4.61

Hargreaves Lansdown Nominees Limit ed   52,126,802   4.47

HSDL Nominees Limited   38,791,052   3.32

HSBC Client  Holding Nominee   36,692,698   3.14
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Direct ors are responsible for  prepar ing t he annual report  and t he financial st at em ent s in accordance w it h applicable law

and regulat ions.

Com pany law  requires t he Direct ors t o prepare f inancial  st at em ent s for  each f inancial year. Under t hat  law  t he Direct ors have

elect ed t o prepar e t he Group and Parent  Company f inancial stat ement s in accordance w it h UK adopt ed int ernat ional  account ing

st andards in conform it y w it h t he Com panies Act 2006 and, as regards t he Parent  Company financial st at em ent s, as applied in

accordance w it h t he pr ovisions of  t he Companies Act  2006. Under company law  t he Direct ors must  not  appr ove t he financial

st at em ents unless t hey are sat isf ied t hat  t hey give a t rue and fair view of t he state of  af fairs of  t he Group and t he Com pany and of

t he prof it  or loss of  t he Group for t hat  period. In preparing t hese f inancial st atem ent s t he Di rectors are requi red to:

• select  suit able account ing policies and t hen apply t hem consist en t ly;

• m ake judgem ent s and account ing est im at es t hat  are reasonable and prudent ;

• st at e whet her UK adopt ed int ernat ional account ing st andards in  confor m it y w it h t he Com panies Act  2006 have been

fol lowed subject  t o any m at er ial depart ures disclosed and explained in t he financial report s;

• prepare t he financial st at ement s on t he going concern basis unless it  is inappropr iat e t o presume t hat  t he Group and Com pany

w ill cont inue in business.

The Dir ect ors are responsible for  keeping adequat e account ing r ecords t hat  are suf f icient  t o show  and explain t he Com pany’s

and Group’s t ransact ions and disclose w it h reasonable accuracy at  any t im e t he f inancial posit ion of  t he Com pany and t he

Group and enable t hem  t o ensure t hat  t he f inancial st at em ent s com ply w it h t he Companies Act  2006. They are also responsible

for  safeguarding t he asset s of  t he Com pany and t he Group and hence for  t aking reasonable st eps for  t he prevent ion and

det ect ion of  f raud and ot her ir regular it ies.

The Direct ors are responsible for  t he m aint enance and int egr it y of  t he corporat e and f inancial inform at ion included  on t he

Com pany’s websit e. Legislat ion in t he Unit ed Kingdom  governing t he preparat ion and dissem inat ion of  t he f inancial

st at em ent s m ay dif fer  f rom  legislat ion in ot her jur isdict ions.

Dir ect ors’ and Of f icers’  Liabilit y Insurance

The Com pany had in force dur ing t he year  and has in f orce at  t he dat e of  t his report  a qualif ying indem nit y in favour of  it s

Dir ect ors against  t he f inancial exposure t hat  t hey m ay incur in t he course of  t heir  professional dut ies as Direct ors and of f icer s

of  t he Com pany and/ or it s subsidiar ies.

St at em ent  on Disclosure of  Inf or m at ion t o Audit ors

Having m ade t he r equisit e enquir ies and in t he case of  each of  t he Direct ors w ho are Direct ors of  t he Com pany at  t he dat e

when t his report  is approved:

•  so far  as t hey are individually aware, t here is no relevant  audit  inform at ion (as def ined by Sect ion 418 of  t he Com panies

Act  2006) of  which t he Com pany’s audit ors are unaware; and

•  each of  t he Direct ors has t aken all t he st eps t hat  t hey should have t aken as a Direct or t o m ake him self  aware of  any relevant

audit  inform at ion and t o est ablish t hat  t he Company’s audit or s are aware of t he inform at ion.

Audit or

PKF Lit t lejohn LLP has expressed it s w ill ingness t o cont inue in of f ice as audit or  of  t he Com pany and a r esolut ion t o conf irm  t he

appoint m ent  w ill be proposed at  t he fort hcom ing annual general m eet ing.

Annual General M eet ing

The annual general m eet ing of  t he Com pany w ill be held at  9.00 am on M onday 24 Apr i l 2023 at  Hur lingham  St udios, Ranelagh

Gardens, London SW6 3PA, Unit ed Kingdom . Not ice of  t he annual general meet ing is enclosed.

This report  was approved by t he Board on 31 M arch 2023. By order  of t he Board

Weili  (David) Tang

Dir ect or
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE M EM BERS OF ECR M INERALS PLC

Opinion

We have audit ed the financial statem ents of  ECR M inerals Plc (t he ‘ parent  com pany’) and it s subsidiar ies (the ‘group’) for the year ended 30 September

2022 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement , the Consolidated St atement  of Com prehensive Income, t he Consolidated and Parent  Company

St atements of  Financial Posit ion, the Consolidat ed and Parent  Company Stat ements of Changes in Equit y, the Consolidated and Parent  Company

St atements of Cash Flows and notes t o t he f inancial  statement s, including significant  account ing policies. The f inancial  report ing framework that  has been

applied in t heir preparat ion is applicable law  and UK adopted Int ernat ional Account ing Standards in conformity wit h the requirements of  the Companies

Act  2006 and as regards the parent  company f inancial statements, as applied in accordance w ith t he provisions of the Companies Act  2006.

In our opinion:

 t he financial st atements give a t rue and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent  company’s affairs as at  30 Septem ber 2022 and

of the group’s loss for  the year then ended;

 t he group f inancial statement s have been properly prepared in accordance w ith UK adopt ed Int ernat ional Account ing Standards in conformity

wit h the requirement s of  the Companies Act  2006;

 t he parent  company financial  st atements have been properly prepared in accordance w it h UK adopt ed Internat ional Account ing Standards in

conf ormity wit h the requirements of  the Companies Act  2006 and as applied in accordance wit h t he provisions of t he Companies Act  2006; and

 t he financial stat ements have been prepared in accordance with t he requirements of t he Companies Act  2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance wit h Internat ional Standards on Audit ing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards

are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilit ies for the audit  of  the f inancial statements section of our report. We are independent  of the group and parent

company in accordance with the ethical requirements that  are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including t he FRC’s Ethical Standard as

applied to listed entit ies, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilit ies in accordance wit h these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

M aterial uncertainty related to going concern

We draw at tent ion to note 2 in the f inancial st atements, which stat es t hat  the group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent  on the

ability to secure addit ional funding and the Directors consider they have various opt ions t o do so, including the issue of equity and asset disposals. As stated in

note 2, these events or conditions indicat e t hat a mat erial uncertainty exists that  may cast significant doubt on the group’s and company’s abilit y to continue as a

going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

In auditing t he financial stat ements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of account ing in the preparat ion of the financial

statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of t he group’s and parent  company’s ability to continue to adopt  t he going concern basis

of account ing included a review of budgets and cash f low forecasts covering a period of at least  12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements,

including challenge of management on t he basis of preparation, together wit h ascertaining the most  recent cash posit ion of t he group and company, and

identifying subsequent  events impact ing the going concern posit ion.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilit ies of the directors with respect t o going concern are described in the relevant sections of t his report .

Our application of materiality

The scope of our audit  was influenced by our applicat ion of materiality. The quant itat ive and qualitat ive t hresholds for materiality det ermine t he scope

of our audit  and t he nat ure, t iming and ext ent  of our audit  procedures. Group materiality was £100,000 (2021: £55,000) based upon approximat ely 1.5%

of gross assets. We consider gross assets t o be the main driver of the business as the group is st ill in t he explorat ion stage and t herefore no revenues are

current ly being generated, and t hat  current  and pot ent ial investors will be most  int erest ed in t he recoverability of the explorat ion and evaluat ion assets.

The parent  com pany mat erialit y was £75,000 (2021:£50,000), based upon 1.5% of gross assets and capped t o be below  group materiality.

Whilst  mat eriality for t he financial statements as a w hole was set  at  £100,000, each significant  com ponent  of the group was audit ed t o an overall

materialit y ranging between £5,000 to £75,000 (2021: bet ween £3,500 to £50,000) w it h performance materialit y set  at  60% for all ent it ies.

We agreed w it h the audit  commit t ee t hat  we would report  to the commit tee al l audit  dif ferences ident ified during the course of  our audit  in excess of

£5,000 (2021: £2,750) as well as differences below t hese thresholds t hat , in our view, warrant ed report ing on qualit at ive grounds.

Our approach to the audit

In designing our audit , we det ermined materiality and assessed t he r isk of  mat erial misstatement  in t he financial stat ements. In part icular, we looked at

areas requir ing the directors t o make subject ive judgements, for exam ple in respect  of  signif icant  account ing est imates including the carrying value of

intangible assets and t he considerat ion of future events that  are inherent ly uncertain. We also addressed the risk of management  override of internal

cont rols, including evaluat ing whet her there was evidence of bias by the directors t hat  represent ed a risk of mat erial misst atement  due to f raud.

An audit  was performed on t he financial informat ion of  the group’s operat ing ent it ies which for t he year ended 30 September 2022 w ere located in the

Unit ed Kingdom, Australia and t he Phil ippines. The audit  w ork on each significant  component  was performed by us as group auditor based upon
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materiality or risk profile, or in response to potent ial risks of mat erial misst atement  to t he group.

Key audit matters

Key audit  mat t ers are those mat ters t hat , in our professional judgment , were of m ost  significance in our audit  of t he f inancial statem ent s of the current

period and include the most  significant  assessed risks of mat erial misst atement  (w het her or not  due to fraud) w e ident if ied, including those w hich had the

greatest  effect  on: the overall audit  st rat egy, the allocat ion of resources in t he audit ; and direct ing t he efforts of  the engagement  t eam. These mat ters

were addressed in the cont ext  of  our audit  of the f inancial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not  provide a separate

opinion on these mat ters.

Key Audit  M at t er How our scope addressed t h is mat t er

Recoverabili t y of  intangible asset s – explorat ion and evaluat ion

assets (ref er t o not e 10)

The group as at  30 Sept em ber 2022 had ongoing ear ly st age

explorat i on pro ject s in t he Phi lippines and Aust ral ia.

Ther e is a r isk t hat  t he expendit ure is not  cor rect ly capit al ised in

accordance w it h IFRS 6. There is also a r isk t hat  t he capit al ised

explorat i on costs are not  r ecoverabl e and should be impai red.

The carrying value of  i ntangible explorat ion and evaluat ion

asset s as at  30 Sept ember 2022, w hich are t est ed annual ly f or

impai rment , is £4,957,218. Compr ising ear ly st age explorat ion

project s, t he im pai rm ent  assessm ent  requires management

judgement  and est imat ion of  a range of  appl icable fact ors.

Relevant  d isclosur es in  t he f i nancial st at em ent s are made in

Note 2 surrounding cr it ical account i ng judgem ents, and in Not e

10 for Int angible asset s.

Our  w ork in t his area included:

• Sam ple t est ing of  explorat ion and evaluat ion expendit u re

t o assess t heir  el igibi li t y f or  capit al isat ion under  IFRS 6 by

cor roborat ing t o t he or iginal source docum entat ion.

• Inspect ion of  t he cur rent  explorat ion l icences t o ver if y t hey

remained val id and t hat  t he gr oup held good t it le.

• Revi ew of co rrespondence (w her e applicable) w it h

licensing author it i es t o ensure compliance and assess t he

risk of  non-renewal. We assessed t he sam pling r esult s and

pr ogr ess of  t he project s and w het her t hey indicat e t he

exist ence of comm ercial ly viable pro ject s.

• Revi ew and chal lenge of  management ’s document ed

consi derat ion of  im pairm ent  by individual pro ject .

• Establishing t he int ent ion of  t he Board t o undert ake f utu re

explorat ion w ork.

• Review of  any internal /  ext ernal resource est i mates

pr oduced during the year.

• Discussion of  st at us of  all p roject s w it h management .

The explorat ion permit  fo r t he Danglay project  is due t o expire

in July 2023. This w as considered an ind icat or  of  im pai rm ent

under  IFRS 6. The Board have det erm ined t o  im pair t he car rying

value dow n t o ni l as t hey ar e not  seeking to develop t he project

t hemselves and are, since the year  end, seeking t o dispose of  t he

project . Given t he lack of  an i dent if i ed purchaser and t he

t imefram e t o t he expiry of  t he l icence w e consider  t his an

appropr iat e t reat ment .

Other information

The other information comprises t he informat ion included in the annual report , ot her than the f inancial statements and our audit or’s report  t hereon. The

directors are responsible for the ot her informat ion contained within the annual report . Our opinion on the group and parent  company financial stat ement s

does not  cover t he other inf ormat ion and, except  to t he ext ent  otherwise explicit ly stated in our report , w e do not  express any form of  assurance conclusion

t hereon. Our responsibility is t o read the other informat ion and, in doing so, consider  w het her t he other informat ion is materially inconsistent  wit h t he

f inancial stat ement s or our know ledge obtained in t he course of t he audit , or ot herwise appears to be materially misstated. If  w e ident ify such material

inconsist encies or apparent  material misstatement s, we are required to det ermine whether this gives rise t o a mat erial misstat ement  in t he financial

st atements themselves. If, based on t he work we have performed, we conclude that  there is a mat erial misstatement  of this other informat ion, w e are

required t o report  that  fact .

We have nothing to report  in t his regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on t he work undert aken in the course of  t he audit :

 t he informat ion given in t he st rat egic report  and t he directors’  report  for t he financial year for which the financial stat ements are prepared is

consist ent  wit h the f inancial statement s; and

 t he st rat egic report  and t he directors’  report  have been prepared in accordance wit h applicable legal requirements.
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M atters on which we are required to report by exception

In t he light  of t he knowledge and understanding of t he group and t he parent  company and t heir environment  obtained in the course of  t he audit , w e have

not  ident ified mat erial misstatement s in the st rat egic report  or the directors’ report .

We have nothing to report  in respect  of the follow ing mat t ers in relat ion t o which t he Companies Act  2006 requires us to report  to you if, in our opinion:

 adequat e account ing records have not  been kept  by the parent  company, or returns adequate for our audit  have not  been received f rom

branches not  visited by us; or

 t he parent  company f inancial statement s are not  in agreement  with t he account ing records and ret urns; or

 certain disclosures of direct ors’ remunerat ion specified by law  are not  made; or

 we have not  received all t he informat ion and explanat ions we require for our audit .

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilit ies st atement , the direct ors are responsible for the preparat ion of the group and parent  company

f inancial statement s and f or  being sat isfied t hat  they give a t rue and fair view , and for such internal control as t he directors det ermine is necessary t o

enable the preparat ion of financial stat ements that  are f ree from material misstat ement , whether due t o fraud or error.

In preparing the group and parent  company financial statem ents, the directors are responsible for assessing the group and t he parent  com pany’s ability

t o cont inue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, mat t ers related to going concern and using the going concern basis of account ing unless the

directors eit her int end t o liquidat e t he group or t he parent  company or to cease operat ions, or have no realist ic alternat ive but  to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our object ives are to obt ain reasonable assurance about  whether  the f inancial stat ements as a whole are f ree from mat erial misst atement , w het her due

t o fraud or er ror, and t o issue an audit or’s report  t hat  includes our  opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but  is not  a guarantee t hat

an audit  conducted in accordance wit h ISAs (UK) w ill always det ect  a mat erial misst atement  when it  exist s. M isstatem ent s can ar ise from f raud or error

and are considered mat erial if, individually or in t he aggregat e, t hey could reasonably be expected t o influence the economic decisions of users taken on

t he basis of these financial stat ements.

Irregularit ies, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance w ith laws and regulat ions. We design procedures in line wit h our responsibilit ies, out lined

above, to det ect  material misstatem ent s in respect  of  irregularit ies, including fraud. The extent  to which our procedures are capable of detect ing

irregularit ies, including fraud is detailed below:

 We obtained an understanding of  the group and parent  company and t he sector in which t hey operat e to ident ify laws and regulat ions t hat

could reasonably be expected t o have a direct  effect  on the f inancial st atements. We obtained our underst anding in this regard t hrough

discussions w ith management , applicat ion of  cumulat ive audit  knowledge and exper ience of the sector.

 We determined t he principal laws and regulat ions relevant to the group and parent company in this regard to be t hose arising from int ernat ional

account ing st andards, t he Companies Act  2006, tax laws and regulat ions, local employm ent  law and condit ions st ipulat ed in the explorat ion

licenses.

 We designed our audit  procedures to ensure the audit  team considered whet her there were any indicat ions of non-compliance by the group

and parent com pany with t hose laws and regulat ions. These procedures included, but were not limit ed to:

o Enquiries of management

o Review of  Board minut es

o Review of  legal and regulat ory correspondence

 We also ident ified t he risks of mat erial misstat ement  of  t he financial st atements due t o fraud. We considered, in addit ion to the non-rebut table

presum ption of a risk of f raud arising f rom management  override of controls, that t he judgements and est imates made by management in t heir

assessment  of  the recoverabilit y of intangible assets represented t he most  significant  risk of  material misstat ement . Refer t o t he key audit

mat ter above.

 We addressed t he risk of fraud ar ising f rom management  overr ide of controls by performing audit  procedures which included, but  w ere not

limited to: the t est ing of journals; review ing account ing est imates for evidence of bias; and evaluat ing the business rat ionale of any signif icant

t ransact ions t hat  are unusual or outside t he normal course of business.

Because of t he inherent  limitat ions of  an audit , there is a r isk that  we will not  detect  all irregularit ies, including those leading to a material misst atement

in t he financial statements or non-com pliance wit h regulat ion. This risk increases the m ore t hat  com pliance wit h a law  or regulat ion is rem oved f rom the

events and t ransact ions ref lected in t he financial stat ements, as we will be less likely t o become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk is also

greater regarding irregularit ies occurring due to f raud rat her t han error , as fraud involves int ent ional concealm ent , forgery, collusion, omission or

misrepresentat ion.

A furt her descript ion of our responsibilit ies for t he audit  of t he financial statements is locat ed on the Financial Report ing Council’s websit e at :

www.frc.org.uk/ auditorsresponsibilit ies. This descript ion forms part  of our audit or’s report .
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This report  is made solely t o t he company’s members, as a body, in accordance wit h Chapter 3 of Part  16 of the Companies Act  2006. Our audit  work has

been undertaken so t hat  we might  state t o t he company’s m embers those mat ters w e are required t o stat e to them in an auditor’s report  and for no other

purpose. To the fullest  extent  permit ted by law, we do not  accept  or assum e responsibilit y t o anyone, other than t he company and t he company's members

as a body, for our audit  work, for t his report , or for the opinions we have formed.

Daniel Hutson (Senior Statutory Auditor) 15 West ferry Circus

For and on behalf of PKF Littlejohn LLP Canary W harf

Statutory Auditor London E14 4HD

31 M arch 2023
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2022 30 September 202120

Note £ £

Continuing operations

Ot her adm inist rat ive expenses (1,214,398) (1,142,338)

Im pairm ent  of int angible asset s 10 (1,576,822)

(Gain) or  loss on ot her  current  asset s (18,991) -

Currency exchange dif ferences 27,173 (347,315)

Total administrative expenses (2,783,038) (1,489,653)

Operating loss
3 (2,783,038) (1,489,653)

Im pairm ent  of avai lable for  sale assets 12,887 -

Ot her  financial asset s – fair  value m ovem ent 9 3,623 4,593

(2,766,528) (1,485,060)

Financial incom e 7 651 288

Ot her incom e 151,004 19,021

Finance income and costs 151,655 19,309

Loss for the year before taxation
(2,614,873) (1,465,751)

Incom e tax 5 - -

Loss for the year from continuing operations (2,614,873) (1,465,751)

Loss on disposal of  subsidiary - -

Loss for the year from discontinued operations - -

Loss for the year - all attributable to owners of the parent (2,614,873) (1,465,751)

Earnings per share - basic and diluted

On cont inuing operat ions 4
(0.25)p (0.16)p

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial stat em ents.
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Consolidated Statement  of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Year ended Year ended
30 September 2022 30 September 2021

£ £

Loss for the year (2,614,873) (1,465,751)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Gain on exchange t ranslat ion 342,215 52,545

Other comprehensive gain for the year 342,215 52,545

Total comprehensive loss for the year (2,272,658) (1,413,206)

Att ribut able t o: -

Loss on cont inuing operat ions (2,272,658) (1,413,206)

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial stat em ents.
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Consolidated &  Company Statement  of Financial Posit ion
At 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Group Company

30 Sept ember 30 Sept ember 30 September 30 Sept ember

Note 2022
£

2021
£

2022

£

2021
£

Assets

Non-current assets

Propert y, plant  and equipm ent 8 1,188,192 1,303,557 7,849 58,333

Invest m ent s in subsidiar ies 9 - - 22,543 -

Int angible assets 10 3,760,919 3,321,481 147,985 1,410,144

Ot her receivables 11 - - 5,792,859 5,133,826

4,949,111 4,625,038 5,971,236 6,602,303

Current assets

Trade and ot her receivables 11 148,043 146,147 1,037,568 878,097

Invent or y 70,641 75,722 - -

Financial asset s at  fair value through prof it  or loss 9 45,084 31,461 45,084 31,461

Cash and cash equivalent s 12 842,889 2,982,046 233,106 1,467,835

1,106,657 3,235,376 1,315,758 2,377,393

Total assets 6,055,768 7,860,414 7,286,944 8,979,696

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 14 206,684 202,731 135,925 41,198

206,684 202,731 135,925 41,198

Total liabilities 206,684 202,731 135,954 41,198

Net assets 5,849,084 7,657,683 7,151,069 8,938,498

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share capit al 13 11,290,980 11,290,483 11,290,980 11,290,483

Share prem ium 13 53,057,125 52,593,562 53,057,125 52,593,562

Exchange reserve 926,213 583,998 - -

Ot her reserves 440,706 440,706 440,706 440,706

Ret ained losses (59,865,940) (57,251,067) (57,637,742) (55,386,525)

Total equity 5,849,084 7,657,683 7,151,069 8,938,498

The Com pany has elect ed t o t ake t he exem pt ion under sect ion 408 of  t he Companies Act  2006 f rom  present ing t he parent  com pany pr of it

and loss account . The loss f or  t he parent  com pany for  t he year was £2,263,395 (2021: £800,558 loss).

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial st at em ents. The f inancial stat em ents w ere approved and

aut hor ised f or  issue by t he Direct ors on 31 M arch 2023 and were signed on it s behalf  by:

Weili (David) Tang                   Dr  Trevor Davenpor t

Non–Executive Chairman Independent Non-Executive Director
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Consolidated Statement  of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Share
capit al

Share
prem ium

Exchange
reserve

Ot her
reserves

Retained
reserves

(Not e 13) (Not e 13) Tot al

£ £ £ £ £ £

Balance at  30 September 2020 11,286,928 47,090,048 531,453 440,706 (55,785,316) 3,563,819

Loss f or  t he year – – – – (1,465,751) (1,465,751)

Gain on exchange t ranslat ion – – 52,545 – – 52,545

Tot al com prehensive loss – – 52,545 – (1,465,751) (1,413,206)

Shares issued 3,556 5,631,514 – – – 5,635,070

Share issue costs – (128,000) – – – (128,000)

Share based paym ent s – – – – – –

Tot al t ransact ions w it h ow ners,

recognised direct ly in equit y
3,556 5,503,514 – – – 5,507,070

Balance at 30 September 2021 11,290,483 52,593,562 583,998 440,706 (57,251,067) 7,657,683

Loss f or  t he year – – – – (2,614,873) (2,614,873)

Gain on exchange t ranslat ion – – 342,215 – –    342,215

Tot al com prehensive loss – – 342,215 – (2,614,873) (2,272,658)

Shar es issued 497 463,563 – – – 464,060

Shar e issue cost s – – – – – –

Tot al t ransact ions w it h ow ners,

recognised direct ly in equi ty

497 463,563 – – – 464,060

Balance at 30 September 2022 11,290,980 53,057,125 926,213 440,706 (59,866,940) 5,848,084

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial stat em ents.
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Company Statement  of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Share
capital

Share
premium

Other
reserves

Retained
reserves

(Note 13) (Note 13) Total
£ £ £ £ £

Balance at 30 September 2020
11,286,928 47,090,048 440,706 (54,585,695) 4,231,987

Loss f or  t he year – – – (800,558) (800,558)

Tot al com prehensive expense – – – (800,558) (800,558)

Shares issued 3,556 5,631,514 – – 5,635,070

Share issue costs – (128,000) – – (128,000)

Tot al t ransact ions w it h ow ners, recognised

direct ly in equit y

3,556 5,503,514 – - 5,507,070

Balance at 30 September 2021 11,290,483 52,593,562 440,706 (55,386,253) 8,938,498

Loss f or  t he year – – – (2,251,490) (2,251,490)

Tot al com prehensive expense – – – (2,251,490) (2,251,490)

Shares issued 497 463,563 – – 464,060

Share issue costs – – – – –

Tot al t ransact ions w it h owners, recognised

direct ly in equit y

497 463,563 – – 464,060

Balance at 30 September 2022 11,290,980 53,057,125 440,706 (57,637,742) 7,151,069

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial stat em ents.
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Consolidated &  Company Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2022 ECR M inerals plc company no. 5079979

Group Company

Year ended 30

Sept em ber

Year ended 30

Sept ember

Year ended 30

Sept ember

Year ended 30

Sept ember

Not e 2022

£

2021
£

2022
£

2021
£

Net cash used in operations 20
(918,135) (1,398,242) (733,226) (1,006,026)

Investing activities

Purchase of  propert y, plant  &  equipm ent 8 (90,321) (1,171,840) (2,541) (59,038)

Increase in explor at ion asset s 10 (1,674,046) (1,452,297) (314,663) (76,862)

Invest m ent  in subsidiary - – (22,543) –

Invest m ent  in avai lable for  sale assets   (10,000) – (10,000) –

Proceeds f rom sale of  propert y, plant  and equipm ent 88,634 – 42,952 –

Loan t o subsidiary – – (659,033) (4,104,759)

Int erest  incom e 7 651 288 265 260

Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities (1,685,082) (2,623,849) (965,563) (4,240,398)

Financing activities

Proceeds from  issue of  share capital (net  of  issue cost s) 464,060 5,507,088 464,060 5,507,069

Net cash from financing activities 464,060 5,507,088 464,060 5,507,069

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (2,139,157) 1,484,815 (1,234,729) 260,645

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,982,046 1,497,231 1,467,835 1,207,190

Effect of change in foreign exchange rates - - - -

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 842,889 2,982,046 233,106 1,497,835

Non-cash t ransact ions:

The not es on pages 30 t o 49 are an int egral  part  of  t hese f inancial stat em ents.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 September 2022

1 General information

The Company and t he Gr oup operated m ineral  explorat ion and development  project s. The Group’s principal int erest s are locat ed in Aust ralia and

t he Philippines.

The Company is a public l im it ed com pany incorporat ed and domiciled in England. The regist ered of fice of  t he Company and its pr incipal place

of  business is Office T3, Hur lingham St udios, Ranelagh Gardens, London  SW6 3PA. The Com pany is quot ed on  t he Alt er nat ive Invest ment

M arket  (AIM ) of  t he London St ock Exchange.

2 Accounting policies

Overall considerations

The pr incipal account ing policies t hat  have been used in t he preparat ion of  t hese consolidat ed f inancial st at ement s are set  out  below . The

policies have been consist ent ly appl ied unless ot her w ise st at ed.

Basis of preparation

a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated f inancial statements of the Group for  t he 12 months ended 30 September 2022 have been prepared in accordance w it h UK adopted

international account ing standards in conformity with the Companies Act  2006. The financial statem ents are prepared on the histor ical cost  basis or the fair

value basis where the fair valuing of relevant  assets or l iabilit ies has been applied.

b)      (i) New  and amended standards, and interpretations issued and effect ive for  t he financial year beginning 1 October 2021

There were no new  standards, amendments or interpretat ions effect ive for  t he f irst  t ime for  periods beginning on or after  1 October  2021 that  had a mat erial

effect on the Group or  Company financial statements.

(ii) New standards, amendments and int erpretat ions in issue but not  yet  effect ive

At  the date of approval of t hese financial statem ents, t he following standards and interpretat ions which have not  been applied in t hese financial statements

were in issue but  not  yet  effect ive (and in some cases had not  been adopted by t he EU):

 Amendments t o IAS 1: Classificat ions of  l iabilit ies and Disclosure of Account ing Policies (effect ive 1 January 2023);

 Amendments t o IAS 8: Account ing Policies, Changes to Account ing Estimates and Errors (eff ect ive 1 January 2023);

 Amendments t o IAS 12: Income Taxes – Deferred Tax ar ising from a Single Transaction (effect ive 1 January 2023);

* subject  to EU endorsement

The Group and Company int end t o adopt  t hese st andards when t hey become ef f ect ive. The int roduct ion of  t hese new st andards and

amendment s is not  expect ed t o have a mat er ial im pact  on t he Group or  Company.

Basis of consolidation
Where t he Group has control over  an investee, it  is classified as a subsidiary. The Group controls an invest ee if all three of the fol low ing elements are present :

power  over t he investee, exposure to variable returns from t he investee and the abilit y of the invest or t o use it s power  to af fect  t hose variable returns.

Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that  t here may be a change in any of  these elements of control.

De-fact o control exist s in sit uat ions w her e t he Group has t he pract ical abi lit y t o direct  t he relevant  act ivit ies of  t he invest ee w it hout

holding t he majorit y of  t he vot ing r ight s. The Group cont rols an ent it y w hen t he Group is exposed t o, or has r ight s t o, variable r et urns

fr om it s involvem ent  w it h the ent it y and has t he abilit y t o affect  t hose ret ur ns t hrough it s pow er  over  t he ent it y.

The consolidat ed f inancial st at ement s present  t he results of  t he Group as i f  t hey form ed a single ent it y. Int ercom pany t r ansact ions

and balances bet ween group companies are elim inat ed in ful l.

The consolidat ed f inancial  st at ements incorporat e t he f inancial  st at ement s of  t he Com pany and one of  i ts subsidiar ies made up t o 30

Sept ember  2022. Subsidiary undert akings acquired dur ing t he per iod are r ecor ded under  t he acquisi t ion m et hod of  account ing and

t heir  results consol idat ed f r om t he dat e of  acquisit ion, being t he dat e on w hich t he Company obtains cont rol, and cont inue t o be

consolidat ed unt il t he dat e such cont rol  ceases.

Going concern

It  is t he pr ime responsibil it y  of  t he Boar d t o ensure t he Group and Company r emains a going concern.  At  17 Febr uary 2023, t he Group has

cash and cash equivalents of  £612,582 and no bor rowings.

The Group’s f inancial pr oject ions and cash f low  forecast s covering a period of at  least  t w elve mont hs from  t he dat e of  approval  of t hese

financial  st atem ent s show  that  t he Group an t i ci p a t e  h av i n g t o  r a i se add i t i o n al  f u n d i n g o ve r  t h e  co u r se  o f  t h e  f i n anci al  y ear

t o  en su r e  suf ficient  available funds in order t o m eet  i t s cont racted and com mit t ed expendit ur e.

Having consider ed t he prepared cashf low forecast s and t he Gr oup budgets, w hich includes t he possibi lit y of  Direct or s cut t ing expenses in

certain area of  operat ions if  r equired, t he progress in act ivi t ies post  year-end, including t he ant icipat ed sale of  propert ies held in Aust ralia

and sale of  t he Phil ippines, t he Direct ors consider  t hat  t hey w ill  have access t o adequat e resources in t he 12 mont hs f r om t he dat e of  t he

signing of  t hese Financial  St at ement s. As a r esult , t hey consider  it  appropr iat e t o cont inue t o adopt  t he going concern basis in t he pr eparat ion

of  t he Financial St at ement s.
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Should t he Gr oup be unable raise addit ional  funding in t he t imescales necessary t o cont inue t r ading as a going concern, adjust m ents w ou ld

have t o be made t o reduce t he value of  t he assets t o t heir  r ecoverable amount s, t o provide for  f ur t her  liabi li t ies, which might  arise, and t o

classify non-current  assets as cur r ent .

The Financial St at ement s have been prepared on t he going concern basis and do not  include t he adjust m ent s t hat  w ould result  if  t he Group

was unable t o cont inue as a going concern.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes pet t y cash and cash held in curr ent  bank account s. Cash equivalents include shor t –t erm invest m ent s t hat  are readily conver t ible

t o know n amount s of  cash and which are subject  t o insignif icant  r isk of  changes in value.

Property, plant and equipment

Proper ty, plant  and equipment  are st at ed at  cost , less accum ulat ed depreciat ion and  any provision f or  impairment  losses.

Depr eciat ion is charged on each part  of  an i t em of  proper t y, plant  and equipment  so as t o w rit e of f  t he cost  of  asset s less t he residual value over

t heir  est im ated useful li ves, using t he straight–line m ethod. Depreciat ion is charged t o  t he income statem ent . The est imated useful li ves are as

follow s:

Of fice equipment 3 years

Furnit ur e and f it t ings 5 years

M achinery and equipment 5 years

M ot or  vehicles 5 years

Land Not  depreciated

Expenses incur red in respect  of  t he maint enance and repair  of  property, plant  and  equipm ent  are charged against  incom e w hen incurr ed.

Refurbishm ent s and improvement s expendit ure, w her e t he benef it  is expect ed t o be long last ing, is capit alised as part  of  t he appropr iat e

asset .

An i t em of  pr oper t y, plant  and equipm ent  ceases t o be r ecognised upon disposal  or  w hen no  fut ure economic benef it s are expected f rom it s use

or disposal. Any gain or  loss ar ising     on cessat ion of  recognit ion of  t he asset  (calculat ed as t he dif ference bet ween t he net  disposal proceeds and

the carrying am ount  of  t he asset ) is included in t he incom e st atement  in the year  t he asset  ceases t o be r ecognised.

Exploration and development costs

All  costs associated wi t h m ineral explor ation and investm ent s are capit alised on a project –by–pr oject  basis, pending deter minat ion of  t he

feasibil it y of  t he pr oject . Cost s incurred i nclude appropr iat e t echnical and administ rat ive expenses but  not  general overheads. If  an explorat ion

project  is successful , t he r elated expendit ures will  be transf erred t o mining assets and am or t ised over  t he est imat ed li fe of  t he com m ercial ore

reserves on a unit  of  product ion basis. W her e a licence i s r elinquished or  a project  abandoned, t he relat ed cost s are w r it t en of f in t he per iod in

which t he event  occurs. Where the Group maintains an inter est  in a project , but  t he value of  t he project  is considered t o be im paired, a provision

against  t he relevant  capit alised cost s w ill be raised.

The recover abilit y of  all  explorat ion and development  cost s is dependent  upon cont inued good t it le t o relevant  asset s being held, t he discovery of

economically recoverable reserves, t he abili t y of  t he Group t o obtain necessary financing t o com plete t he development  of  reserves and fut ure

profit able product ion or  proceeds f rom t he disposi t ion t hereof .

Impairment testing

Individual assets are t est ed for  im pairment  whenever  event s or changes in circum st ances indicat e t hat  t he carrying amount  of  an asset  may

exceed it s r ecover able amount , being t he higher  of  net  realisable value and value in use. Any such excess of  carr ying value over  recoverable

amount  or  value in use is t aken as a debit  t o t he income st at ement .

Intangible exploration asset s ar e not  subject  t o am ort isat ion and are t ested annually for impair ment .

Provisions

A provision is recognised in t he Stat ement  of  Financial Posit ion w hen t he Group or  Com pany has a present  legal or  construct ive

obligat ion as a result  of  a past  event , and i t  is probable t hat  an out flow  of  economic benef its w ill be required t o set t le t he obligat ion. If

t he effect  is m at er ial, provisions are det ermined by discount ing t he expect ed fut ure cash f lows at  a pre–t ax rat e t hat  reflect s curr ent

m arket  assessm ents of  t he t ime value of  m oney and, w here appropr iat e, t he r isks specif ic t o t he liability.

Leased assets

Asset s and liabili t ies arising f r om a lease are init ially m easur ed on a pr esent  value basis. The lease payments are discount ed using t he

int erest  rat e im pl icit  in t he lease. If  t hat  rat e cannot  be readily det erm ined, t he lessee’s incremental  borrow ing rat e is used, being t he

rat e t hat  t he individual  lessee w ould have t o pay t o bor row  t he funds necessary t o obt ain an asset  of  sim ilar  value t o t he r ight -of -use

asset . Lease paym ents are allocated bet w een pr incipal and f inance cost . All ot her  shor t  t er m leases are regarded as operat ing leases

and t he paym ents made under  t hem  are charged t o t he incom e st at ement  on a st raight -line basis over  t he lease t erm.

Taxation

Ther e is no current  t ax payable in view  of  t he losses t o date.

Defer red income taxes are calculat ed using t he Statem ent  of Financial Posit ion liabili t y method on t emporary dif ferences. Defer red t ax is

generally provided on t he dif ference between t he carrying amounts of  asset s and liabilit ies and t heir  t ax bases. However , def erred t ax is
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not  provided on t he ini t ial recognit ion of  goodw ill or  on t he ini t ial recognit ion of  an asset  or  liabil it y unless t he r elat ed t ransact ion is a

business com binat ion or  af fect s tax or  account ing profi t . Defer red t ax on  t emporary di f ferences associated w it h shares in subsidiaries and

joint  ventures is not  provided i f  reversal  of  t hese t em por ary di ff erences can be cont rolled by t he Com pany and i t  is probable t hat  reversal

w ill not  occur  in t he f oreseeable future. In addi t ion, t ax losses available t o be carried f or ward as w ell    as ot her  incom e t ax cr edits t o t he

Com pany are assessed for recogni t ion as deferred t ax asset s.

Deferr ed tax liabilit ies are provided in full, w it h no discount ing. Def er red t ax asset s are recognised t o t he ext ent  t hat  it  is probable t hat

t he under lying deduct ible t emporary dif ferences w ill be able t o be off set  against  fut ure t axable incom e. Cur rent  and def erred t ax asset s

and liabi lit ies are calculat ed at  tax rat es t hat  ar e expect ed t o apply t o t heir  r espect ive per iod of  realisat ion, provided t hey are enact ed

or  substant ively enacted at  t he St at ement  of  Financial  Posit ion dat e.

Changes in defer red tax asset s or  liabi lit ies are recognised as a com ponent  of  t ax expense in t he incom e st at ement , except  w here t hey

relat e t o it ems t hat  are charged or  credit ed direct ly t o equi t y, in w hich case t he relat ed current  or  def erred t ax is also charged or

credit ed direct ly t o equi ty.

Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiar ies are ent i t ies cont rolled by t he Group. The Gr oup cont rols an ent i ty when it  is exposed t o, or  has r ight s t o, variable ret urns

from it s involvem ent  w it h t he ent it y and has t he abili t y t o af fect  t hose ret urns t hrough it s pow er  over  t he ent i ty.

The invest ments in subsidiar ies held by t he Company are valued at  cost  less any pr ovision for  impairment  t hat  is considered t o have

occurred, t he r esult ant  loss being recognised in t he income st at em ent .

Equity

Equit y comprises t he follow ing:

• “ Share capit al”  represents t he nominal value of  equity shares, bot h ordinary and defer red.

• “ Shar e prem ium”  represent s t he excess over  nominal value of  t he fair  value of  considerat ion received for  equit y shar es, net  of expenses o f

t he share issues.

• “ Ot her  reserves”  represent  t he fair  values of  share opt ions and war rants issued.

• “ Retained reserves”  include all current  and  prior  year  result s, including fair  value adjust ments on financial  asset s, as disclosed in t he

consol idat ed st at ement  of  com pr ehensive incom e.

• “ Exchange reserve”  includes t he amounts descr ibed in m ore detail in t he f ollow ing not e on foreign currency below .

Foreign currency translation

The consolidat ed financial  st at ement s are present ed in pounds st erling w hich is t he funct ional and present at ional  cur rency r epresent ing t he pr im ary

economic environment  of  t he Group.

Foreign currency t ransact ions are t ranslat ed int o t he respect ive f unct ional currencies of  t he Company and it s subsidiar ies using t he exchange

rat es prevailing at  t he dat e of  t he t ransact ion or  at  an average rat e w her e it  is not  pract icable t o t ranslat e individual  t ransact ions. Foreign

exchange gains and losses are recognised in t he incom e stat em ent .

M onetary asset s and liabili t ies denom inated in a for eign currency are t ranslated at  t he rates ruling at  t he Stat em ent  of  Financial  Posi t ion date.

The asset s and liabili t ies of t he Group’s foreign operat ions ar e t ranslat ed at  exchange rat es r uling at  t he St atem ent  of  Financial Posit ion date.

Incom e and expense it ems are t ranslated at  t he average rates for  t he per iod. Exchange dif f erences are classif ied as equit y and transferred t o

t he Group’s exchange reserve. Such dif ferences are recognised in t he incom e st at ement  in t he per iods in which t he operat ion is disposed

of .

Share–based payments

The Company aw ards shar e opt ions t o cer t ain Company Direct ors and employees t o acquire shares of  t he Company. Addit ionally, t he Com pany

has in previous years issued warrant s t o providers of  equity f inance.

All  goods and services received in exchange for  t he gr ant  of  any share–based  paym ent  ar e m easured at  t heir  fair  values. W her e employees are

rewarded using share–based payments, t he fair  values of  employees’ services are det ermined indir ect ly by reference t o t he fair  value of  t he

inst rum ent  granted t o t he employee.

The fair  value is appr aised at  t he grant  dat e and excludes t he im pact  of  non–market  vest ing condit ions.  Fair  value is measur ed by use

of  t he Black Scholes m odel . The expected  life used in t he model  has been adjusted, based on management ’s best  est imat e, f or  t he

ef fects of non–t ransferabili t y, exercise r est r ict ions, and behavioural  considerat ions.

All equit y–set t led share–based paym ents are ul t imat ely recognised as an expense in t he income st at ement  w it h a corr esponding

credit  t o “ ot her  reserves” .

If  vest ing per iods or  ot her  non–market  vest ing condit ions apply, t he expense is allocat ed over  t he vest ing per iod, based on t he best

available est imat e of  t he num ber  of  share opt ions expect ed t o vest . Est imat es are subsequent ly revised if  t here is any indicat ion t hat

t he number  of  share opt ions expect ed t o vest  dif fers from previous est imat es. Any cum ulat ive

adjust m ent  prior  t o vest ing i s recognised in t he current  period. No  adjust ment  is made t o any expense recognised in prior  years if  share

opt ions ul t imatel y exer cised are dif f erent  t o t hat  est im ated on vest ing.

Upon exercise of  share opt ions, t he proceeds received net  of  at t r ibu table transact ion cost s ar e credit ed t o shar e capit al and, where
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appropriat e, shar e premium.

A gain or  loss is recognised in pr of it  or  loss when a f inancial  liabilit y is set t led t hrough t he issuance of  t he Com pany’s ow n equit y

inst rument s. The am ount  of  t he gain or  loss is calculat ed as t he diff erence bet w een t he carrying value of  t he f inancial l iabilit y ext inguished

and t he fair  value of  t he equit y inst rument  issued.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets compr ise equit y invest ments held as financial assets at  f air  value t hrough profi t  or  loss as required by IFRS

9, and f inancial  asset s at  amort ised cost , being cash and cash equivalents and receivables balances. Financial  assets are assigned t o t he

respect ive cat egor ies on init ial recognit ion, based on t he Group’s business model f or  managing f inancial  asset s, w hich det erm ines

w het her  cash flow s w il l r esult  f r om col lect ing cont r act ual cash f lows, sel ling t he financial asset s, or  bot h.

Financial  asset s at  amor t ised cost  are non–derivat ive f inancial  asset s wit h fi xed or  determ inable payments t hat  ar e not  quot ed in an act ive

m arket . These asset s are init ially m easured at  fair  value plus t ransact ion costs direct ly at t r ibutable t o t heir  acquisi t ion or  issue, and ar e

subsequent l y carr ied at  amor t ised cost  using t he ef f ect ive int erest  rat e met hod, less provision f or  impairm ent  under  t he expected credit

loss model.

The Gr oup’s receivables fall int o t his cat egory of financial  instrum ent s. Discount ing is omi t t ed where t he effect  of  discount ing is im m ater ial.

Equit y invest m ent s ar e held as financial asset s at  fair  value t hrough pr of it  or  loss. These asset s are init ially recognised at  fai r value and subsequent ly

carr ied in t he f inancial st atem ents at  f air  value, w it h net  changes r ecognised in pr ofit  or loss.

Derecognit ion

A financial asset  (or , w here applicable, a par t  of  a financial  asset  or  par t  of a gr oup of sim ilar  f inancial asset s) i s primarily der ecognised

(i.e., rem oved f r om  t he Group’s consolidat ed st at ement  of  financial  posit ion) w hen:

•  The r ight s t o receive cash flow s from the asset  have expired

Or

•  The Group has transferred it s r ight s t o r eceive cash flow s from  the asset  or  has assum ed an obligat ion t o  pay t he received cash flow s

in f ull  w it hout  mat er ial  delay t o a t hird part y under a ‘pass-t hrough’   arrangement ; and eit her  (a) t he Group has t ransferred subst ant iall y

all t he risks and rewar ds of  t he asset ,  or  (b) t he Group has neit her  t ransferred nor ret ained subst ant ially all  t he risks and rew ards of  t he

asset ,  but  has transferred cont rol of  t he asset .

Impairment of financial assets

The Gr oup recognises an allow ance for  ECLs f or  all debt  instr um ents no t  held at  fair  value t hrough prof it  or  loss.

The amount  of  t he expected credit  loss is measured as t he dif ference between all  cont r actual  cash flow s t hat  are due in accordance w it h

t he contract  and all t he cash flow s t hat  are expected t o be received (i.e. all cash shor t falls), discount ed at  t he or iginal ef f ect ive i nt erest

rate (EIR).

For t r ade receivables (not  subject t o pr ovisional pricing) and ot her receivables due in less t han 12 mont hs, t he Group applies t he sim plified

approach in calculat ing ECLs, as permit t ed by IFRS 9. Therefor e, t he Group does not  t rack changes in cr edit  r isk, but  inst ead, recognises a

loss allowance based on t he f i nancial  asset ’s li fet im e ECL at  each repor t ing dat e.

Financial liabilit ies

All financial  l iabi li t ies are recognised init ially at  fair  value and, in t he case of  loans and borrow ings and payables, net  of  di rect ly at t r ibut able

t ransaction cost s.

The Gr oup’s f inancial liabil it ies include t r ade and ot her payables and ar e held at  amort ised cost . Af t er  init ial recognit ion, t r ade and ot her

payables ar e subsequent l y m easur ed at  amor t ised cost  using t he EIR m et hod. Gains and losses are recognised in t he stat ement  of  pr of it

or  loss and other  com prehensive incom e w hen t he liabilit ies are derecognised, as wel l as t hr ough t he EIR am or t isat ion process.

Derecognit ion

A financial l iabili t y is derecognised when t he associat ed obligat ion is discharged or  cancelled or  expir es.  W hen an exist ing f inancial liabil it y

is replaced by another  f rom the same lender  on substant ially dif ferent  t erm s, or t he t erms of an exist ing liabilit y are substant ially modif ied,

such an exchange or  m odif icat ion is t reat ed as t he derecognit ion of  t he or iginal  l iabil it y and t he recognit ion of  a new  liabili t y. The

di f fer ence in t he respect ive carrying amount s is r ecognised in pr ofit  or  loss and ot her com prehensive incom e.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparat ion of  financial stat em ent s in conformity w it h UK adopt ed int er nat ional account ing standar ds requir es management  t o

m ake judgements, est imat es and assumpt ions t hat  af fect  t he applicat ion of  policies and report ed amount s of  asset s and l iabilit ies,

income and expenses. The est imat es and associat ed assum pt ions are based on hist or ical exper ience and var ious ot her  fact ors t hat

are believed t o be reasonable under  t he cir cumstances, t he results o f  which form  t he basis of  m aking t he judgement s about  carrying

values of  assets and l iabil it ies t hat  ar e not  r eadily apparent  f rom other  sources. Act ual result s m ay dif fer  from t hese est imat es.
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The est imat es and underlying assum pt ions are review ed on an on–going basis. Revisions t o account ing est imat es are recognised in t he

year  in which t he est imate is revised if  t he revision af fect s only t hat  year  or  in t he year  of  t he revision and future years if  t he r evision

af fect s both current  and future years.

The m ost  cri t ical account ing policies and est imat es in det er mining t he f inancial  condit ion and resul ts of  t he Group and Com pany are t hose

r equi ring t he greater  degree of  subject i ve or complete judgem ent . These relat e t o:

Capi talisat ion and recoverabil it y of  explorat ion costs (Note 10):

Capi tali sed explorat ion and evaluat ion cost s consist  of  direct cost s, l icence paym ent s and fixed salar y/ consult ant  cost s, capi t alised in

accor dance w it h IFRS 6 " Explorat ion for  and Evaluat ion of  M ineral Resour ces" .  The group and company recognises expendit ur e as

explorat ion and evaluat ion asset s w hen i t  det ermines t hat  t hose asset s will  be successful  in f inding speci fi c m ineral  asset s.   Explorat ion and

evaluat ion asset s ar e init iall y measured at  cost .  Explorat ion and evaluat ion cost s are assessed for  indicat ions of  impair ment  annually. Where

t he carr ying amount  of  an asset  exceeds i ts recoverable amount  an impairment  is r ecognised.  Any im pair ment  is recognised direct ly in profi t

or  loss.

Recoverabi li t y of invest ment  in subsidiaries including int ra group receivables (Note 9 and 11)

The recoverabili t y of  investm ent s in subsidiar ies, including int ra group receivables, is direct ly linked t o t he r ecoverabili t y of  t he explorat ion

asset s in t hose ent it ies, w hich is subject  t o t he sam e est im ates and judgem ent s as explained above.
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3 Operating loss

Year ended Year ended
30 September 30  September

                         2022                                   2021
The operat ing loss is st at ed af t er  charging: £ £

Depreciat ion of proper t y, plant  and equipm ent 104,165 51,822

Operat ing lease expenses 44,843 31,337

Audit ors’ rem unerat ion – fees payable t o t he Company’s audi t or f or  t he audit  of

t he parent  com pany and consolidat ed f inancial st at em ent s 32,000 26,000

4 Earnings per share

Basic and Diluted Year ended
30 September

2022

Year ended

30 Sept ember

2021

Weight ed num ber of  shares in issue dur ing t he year     1,039,370,796 892,410,767

£ £

Loss f rom  cont inuing operat ions at t ribut able t o ow ners of  t he parent (2,614,873) (1,413,206)

Basic earnings per  share has been calculat ed by dividing t he loss at t r ibutable t o equit y holders of  t he company aft er  t axat ion by

t he weight ed average number  of  shares in issue dur ing t he year . There is no di fference bet ween t he basic and dilut ed earnings

per  share as t he ef fect  on t he exercise of  opt ions and w arrants would be t o decrease t he earnings per  share.

Details of  share opt ions and w arrant s t hat  could potent i all y dilut e earnings per share in future per iods is set  out  in Note 13.

5 Income tax

The relat ionship betw een t he expected t ax expense based on t he corporat ion tax rate of 19% for t he year  ended 30 September  2022

(2021: 19%) and t he t ax expense actually recognised in t he incom e st atement  can be r econciled as f ollows:

Year ended
30 September

Year ended

30 Sept ember
2022 2021

£ £

Group loss for t he year (2,614,873) (1,413,206)

Loss on act ivit ies at  eff ect ive rat e of  corporat ion t ax of  19% (2021: 19%) (496,826) (268,509)

Expenses not  deduct ible for  t ax purposes 11,540 63,927

Loss on disposal of  subsidiary not  deduct ible f or  t ax purposes - -

Incom e not  t axable 4,363 19,309

Depr eciat ion in excess of  capital allowances 104,165 51,822

Loss carr ied forward on w hich no deferred t ax asset  is recognised 376,758 133,451

Current  t ax expense – –

Deferred t ax (see below ) – –

Tot al incom e t ax expense – –

The Com pany has unused t ax losses of  approximat ely £8,100,000 (2020 £6,950,000) t o carr y for ward and set  against  f ut ure profit s;

and t he Company has capit al losses of £197,000 t o carr y for w ard and set  against  fut ure capi tal  gains of  t he Company. The relat ed

def erred t ax asset  has not  been recognised in respect  of  t hese losses as t her e is no cer t aint y in regard t o t he level  and t im ing of

future prof i t s.
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6 Staff numbers and costs

Group and Company Year ended Year ended

30 September
2022

Number

30 Sept ember

2021

Number

Direct or s 4 3

Administ rat ion 3 3

Tot al 7 6

The aggregat e payroll costs of  t hese persons were as follow s:

£ £

St af f w ages and salar ies 140,167 61,604

Direct or s’ cash based em olum ent s 198,739 277,353

Social secur it y costs 24,544 22,817

Pension cont r ibut ions 1,456 1,400

364,906 363,174

The remunerat ion of  t he direct ors, who are t he key management  personnel of  t he Group, in aggregat e for  each of  t he cat egor ies

specif ied in IAS 24 ‘Relat ed Par ty Disclosur es’ was as follow s:

£ £

Direct ors’ cash based em olum ents 198,739 267,353

Employer ’s nat ional insurance cont r ibut ions - 22,817

Pension cont r ibut ions 1,456 1,316

200,195 291,486

Directors’ remuneration

As requir ed by AIM  Rule 19, det ails of  rem uner at ion earned in r espect  of  t he f inancial  year  ended 30 September  2022 by each Director

ar e set  out  below :

Salary Consulting fees Total

Paid Accrued Paid Accrued

Director £ £ £ £ £

C Brown 17,727 - - - 17,727

W Tang 48,000 - 28,300 400 76,700

A Jones 30,000 - 80,808 - 110,808

T Davenport 36,000 - 6,400 - 42,400

A Scot t 27,000 - 7,000 - 34,000

158,727 - 122,508 400 281,635
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Notes to the Financial Statements cont inued

For the year ended 30 September 2022

6 Staff numbers and costs continued

Year ended 30 September 2021

Paid
Salary

Accrued Consulting
fees

Pension
Total

Director £ £ £ £ £

C Brown 165,000 – – 1,316 166,316

W Tang 54,000 4,000 26,584 – 84,584

A Jones 22,500 2,500 – – 25,000

241,500 6,500      26,584 1,316 275,900

The highest  paid Dir ect or  r eceived rem unerat ion of  £110,808 (2021: £165,000), excluding share–based payment s.

7 Finance income
Year ended Year ended

30 September 30 Septem ber
2022 2021

Finance income £ £

Int erest  on cash and cash equivalent s     651 288

   651 288

8 Property, plant and equipment

Group

Furniture &

fittings

Office

Equipment

Machinery &

equipment

Land and

Building

Total

Cost £ £ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober  2021 2,982 37,240 513,136 822,705 1,376,063

Addit ions 699 3,999 85,623 90,321

Disposal - - (45,036) (56,485) (101,521)

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 3,681 41,239 553,723 766,220 1,364,863

Depreciation

At  1 Oct ober  2021 2,982 17,415 52,110 - 72,507

Depreciat ion for t he year 176 7,656 96,333 - 104,165

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 3,158 25,071 148,443 - 176,672

Net book value

At  1 Oct ober  2021 - 19,825 461,027 1,303,557822,705

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 523 16,168 405,281 766,220 1,188,192

Company Furniture &

fittings

Office

Equipment

Machinery &

equipment

Land and

Building

Total

Cost £ £ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober  2021 890 27,936 51,860 - 80,686

Addit ions 699 1,842 - - 2,541

Disposal - - (45,036) - (45,036)

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 1,589 29,778 6,824 - 38,191

Depreciation

At  1 Oct ober 2021 890 17,040 4,424 - 22,354

Depreciat ion for t he year 176 5,413 2,400 - 7,989

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 1,066 22,453 6,824 - 30,343
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Net book value

At  1 Oct ober  2021 - 10,896 47,436 - 58,493

At  30 Sept em ber  2022 523 7,325 - - 7,848
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8 Property, plant and equipment continued

The Gr oup and  t he Company’s propert y, plant  and  equipm ent  ar e f ree f rom any m or tgage or  charge. The

com parable table for 2021 is det ailed below .

Group

Furniture &

fittings

Office

Equipment

Machinery &

equipment

Land and

Building

Total

Cost £ £ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober  2020 2,982 18,880 184,209 - 206,071

Addit ions - 18,360 328,927 822,705 1,169,992

At  30 Sept em ber  2021 2,982 37,240 513,136 822,705 1,376,063

Depreciation

At  1 Oct ober  2020 2,880 14,157 5,495 - 22,532

Depreciat ion for t he year 102 3,258 46,615 - 51,822

At  30 Sept em ber  2021 2,982 17,415 52,110 - 74,354

Net book value

At  1 Oct ober  2020 102 4,723 180,517 185,341-

At  30 Sept em ber  2021 - 19,825 461,027 822,705 1,303,557

Company Furniture &

fittings

Office

Equipment

Machinery &

equipment

Land and

Building

Total

Cost £ £ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober  2020 890 18,880 3,865 - 23,635

Addit ions - 18,360 47,995 - 66,355

At 30 Sept em ber  2021 890 37,240 51,860 - 89,990

Depreciation

At  1 Oct ober  2020 890 14,157 3,865 - 18,912

Depreciat ion for t he year - 2,883 559 - 3,442

At  30 Sept em ber  2021 890 17,040 4,424 - 22,354

Net book value

At  1 Oct ober  2020 161 - 387 - 548

At  30 Sept em ber  2021 - 20,200 47,436 - 67,636
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9 Investments
Investment in

subsidiaries
£

Cost  as at  1 Oct ober 2021        272

Additions                                                                                                                                                                                                     22,543

Disposal       (272)

Balance at 30 September 2022    22,543

The com parable t able for  2021 is det ailed below :
Investment in

subsidiaries
£

Cost  as at  1 Oct ober 2020 272

Addit ion                                                                                                                                                                                                                    -

Balance at  30 Sept em ber  2021 272

Investment in subsidiaries

At  30 Sept ember  2022, t he Com pany had int erests in t he fol lowing subsidiary undert akings:

Description
Principal and effective

country of Principal country of Proportion of
Subsidiaries: incorporation activity operation shares held

M ercator Gold Aust ralia Pt y Lt d Aust ral ia  M ineral Aust ralia 100%

Explorat ion

Warm  Spr ings Renewable Energy Corporat ion USA Dorm ant USA  90%

Copper Flat  Corporat ion USA Dorm ant USA 100%

Lux Explorat ion Pty Ltd Aust ral ia  M ineral Aust ralia 100%

Explorat ion

Corderi lla Tiger Internat ional Resources Inc.                                       Philippines              M ineral             Phi lippi nes                 70%

 Explorat ion

Regist ered of fice address of  t he subsidiar ies:

M ercat or  Gold Aust ralia Pt y Lt d 58 Gipps St reet , Collingwood Vict or ia, 3066, Aust ralia

Warm  Spr ings Renewable Energy Corporat ion 315 Paseo de Peralt a, Santa Fe, NM  87501, USA

Copper  Flat  Cor porat ion (form er ly New M exico Copper  Corporat ion) 315 Paseo de Peralt a, Santa Fe, NM  87501, USA

Lux Explorat ion Pt y Lt d 58 Gipps St reet , Collingw ood Vict or ia, 3066, Aust ralia

Cordil lera Tiger  Int ernat ional Resources Inc.                                                RM  2 4/ F D Rest aurant  Bldg.  Dangw a Term inal Baguio

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
2022

£
2021

£

Quot ed invest m ent s

At  1 Oct ober    31,461 26,870

Addit ions 10,000 -

Fair  value m ovem ent s                        3,623 4,591

At  30 Sept ember 45,084 31,461

The f inancial asset  at  30 Sept ember  2022 and 2021 comprises shares in Tiger  Int ernat ional Resources, Inc., and is held at  fair  value t hrough

prof it  or  loss in accor dance w it h IFRS 9 Financial Inst ruments.
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10 Intangible assets – exploration and development costs

Group Com pany

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober 3,321,481 1,869,184 1,410,144 1,333,282

Addit ions 1,993,719 1,452,297 292,123 76,862

Impairm ent (1,554,281) - (1,554,281) -

At  30 Sept em ber 3,760,919 3,321,481 147,985 1,410,144

A summary of  explorat ion and developm ent  costs of  t he Group is present ed below:

2022
£

2021
£

Danglay Gold Project ,  Philippines - 1,261,158

Cent ral Vict orian Gold Project s, Aust ralia 3,760,919 2,060,323

At  30 Sept em ber 3,760,919 3,321,481

Danglay Gold Project, Philippines
In Apr i l 2013 ECR ent ered int o an earn-in and joint  vent ure agreem ent  (t he “ Agreem ent ” ) in relat ion t o t he Danglay gold project  in  t he

Philippines. Cordillera Tiger Gold Resources, Inc. (“ Cordillera Tiger ” ) is a Philippine corporat ion and t he holder  of  t he explorat ion perm it  (t he

“ EP” ) which represent s t he Danglay project .

Act ivit ies under t he Agreem ent  com m enced in Decem ber 2013 and ceased when t he Earn-In Opt ion (as t hat  t erm is def ined in  t he

Agreement ) w as t erm inat ed in August  2016. The Phil ippine m ining indust ry is endur ing a per iod of  signif icant  pol it ical and regulat ory

upheaval, w hich has been part icular ly int ense and unpr edict able since June 2016. In l ight  of  t his, t erm inat ion of t he Earn-In Opt ion was

considered a prudent  st ep for  t he Com pany t o t ake.

The Agreement  gave ECR the exclusive r ight  and opt ion t o earn a 25% or 50% int erest  in Cordil lera Tiger and thereby in t he Danglay project .

Under t he t erms of  t he Agreem ent , ECR w as t he operat or  of  t he Danglay project , t hrough Cordil lera Tiger. The com plet ion of  var ious

explorat ion program m es generat ed valuable dat a w hich is relevant  t o t he assessm ent  of  t he project ’s economic pot ent ial.

In Decem ber 2015, t he Company published an NI43-101 t echnical repor t  (t he “ Repor t ” ) in r elat ion t o t he Danglay project . The Report  also

disclosed a t arget  for f ur t her explorat ion, as per mit t ed by NI43-101. The Report  support s t he disclosure on 5 Novem ber 2015 of  an infer red

mineral resource est imate for oxide gold mineral isat ion at  Danglay.

Under t he Agreement , t he est imat ion of t his m ineral resource and t he making of  expendi t ures exceeding US$500,000 in connect ion w it h

the Danglay project , ent i t led ECR t o a 25% int erest  in Cordi llera Tiger .

In July 2021, Cordillera Tiger successful ly renew ed Explorat ion License EP-006 at  t he Danglay gold project , which is located in a proli f ic gold

and copper  mining dist r ict  in t he nort h of  t he Philippines for a further t w o years. In October  2021, ECR M inerals received form al recognit ion

for its 25% shareholding in Philippines based com pany Cordillera Tiger Gold Resources, Inc. (“ Cordil lera Tiger” ), having invest ed some £1.2

mi ll ion in t he Danglay gold.

In Apr i l 2022, t he Cordillera Chairman and Vice President  agreed t o sell t o ECR M inerals his shareholding of 1,499,996. The considerat ion

for  t he addit ional 1,499,996 shares in Cordil lera was 1,499,996 Philippine pesos (approx. £22,000), which has been paid for  in cash. Follow ing

t his acquisi t ion, ECR holds 2,333,329 Ordinary Shares in Cordil lera represent ing 70% of  i ts issued share capi t al. At  t hat  st age t he cur rent

m anagem ent  of  Cordillera w as kept  in p lace.

The carrying value of Danglay as at  30 Sept em ber 2022 w as £1,554,281 w hich is based on hist or ical spend by ECR M inerals plc. As t he

Group’ s f ocus is on gold and bat t ery met als explorat ion in Aust ral ia and as such, upon t he conclusion of  a review  of operat ions post  per iod,

t he Board decided t o explore several opt ions in relat ion to t he Danglay project , including pot ent ial sale of  t he asset . Despit e num erous int erest s,

ECR is yet  t o receive a mat er ial off er  t hat  would br ing value t o shareholders. Post  per iod, t he Group has signif icant ly reduced spending on

t he asset  and subsequent ly produced a sales present at ion t o dist r ibut e t o pot ent ial buyers. The Board acknow ledge t he several challenges

in valuing t he pot ent ial of t he Danglay asset  such as quant ifying t he value of Explorat ion License EP-006, Cordillera holds no value and t he

net  asset s are ni l, and Cordil lera Tiger Gold Resources Inc recorded no revenues or prof i ts. Under advisement  and discussions, t he Board

believes i t  w ould not  be prudent  t o carry t he book value of t he asset  forw ard based on t he expendit ure t o dat e and current  m arket  condi t ions

and has t heref ore im paired t he project  in ful l. Nevert heless, ECR cont inues t o explore ot her  pot ent ial sales opport unit ies f or  t he Danglay

Gold project .



42

11 Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Non-current assets

Am ount  ow ed by a subsidiary - - 5,792,859 5,133,826

Current assets

Am ount  ow ed by a subsidiary - - 938,073 818,566

Ot her receivables 99,365 100,406 50,933 33,919

Prepaym ent s and accrued incom e 48,678 45,741 48,563 25,612

148,043 146,147 1,037,568 878,097

The shor t–ter m carrying values ar e considered t o be a reasonable approxim at ion of  t he f air  value.

12 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

2022
£

2021
£

2022
£

2021
£

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following:

Deposits at  banks 842,889 2,982,046 233,106 1,467,835

Cash on hand

842,889 2,982,046 233,106 1,467,835

13 Share capital and share premium accounts

The share capit al of  t he Company consists of t hree classes of  shares: ordinary shares of  0.001p each w hich have equal  r ights t o receive

dividends or  capit al  r epaym ents and  each of  w hich represent s one vot e at  shar eholder  m eet ings; and tw o classes of  defer red shares,

one of  9.9p each and t he ot her of  0.099p each, which have lim it ed right s as laid out  in t he Com pany’s ar t i cles.

In par t icular deferred shares car ry no r ight  t o dividends or  t o at t end or  vote at  shareholder  m eet ings and defer red shar e capi t al is only

r epayable af t er  t he nom inal  value of  t he or dinary share capit al  has been r epaid.

a) Changes in issued share capital and share premium

Deferred Deferred ‘B’ Deferred

Num ber of

shares

Ordinary

shares

9.9p
shares

0.099p
shares

0.199p
shares

Tot al

shares

Share

premium Tot al

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

At  1 Oct ober  2021 1,016,558,551 10,147 7,194,816 3,828,359 257,161 11,290,483 52,593,562 58,376,975

Issue of  shares

less costs 47,906,000 497 - - - 497 463,563 464,042

Balance at

30 Sept ember 2022

1,064,464,551 10,644 7,194,816 3,828,359 257,161 11,290,980 53,057,125 63,884,063

All t he shares issued are f ully paid up  and none of  t he Com pany’s shares ar e held by any of  it s subsidiar ies.
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13 Share capital and share premium accounts continued

b) Potential issue of ordinary shares

Share options

The num ber  and w eight ed average exercise pr ices of  share opt ions valid at  t he year–end ar e as fol lows:

Weighted
average

exercise price

Number of
options

W eight ed

average

exer cise pr ice

Number of

opt ions

2022 2022 2021 2021

£ £

Exercisable at  t he beginning of  t he year 0.0113 17,035,127 0.051 8,209,968

Grant ed during the year 0.027 45,000,000 0.0113 25,000,000

Exercised during the year - - 0.0117  (16,118,841)

Expired dur ing t he year 0.0175 (1,758,143) 5 (56,000)

Exercisable at  t he end of  t he year 0.023 60,276,984 0.0113 17,035,127

The opt ions out standing at  30 Septem ber  2022 have a w eighted average rem aining cont r actual life of  f our  year  and t hr ee m onths

(2021: t wo year and seven m ont hs).

The opt ions out standing at  t he end of  t he year  have t he f ollow ing expir y date and exercise pr ices:

Dat e grant ed Expiry Date Exercise Pr ice in No. of Opt ions

27 February 2017                               28 Oct ober  2024 £0.01725 4,076,984

30 July 2018                                         29 July 2023 £0.01125 1,200,000

30 July 2018                                         28 Oct ober 2024 £0.01125 10,000,000

23 January 2022                                  22 January 2027 £0.022 35,000.000

23 January 2022                                  22 January 2027 £0.044 10,000,000

Share-based payments

There were no opt ions issued dur ing t he year .

Share warrants
Weighted Number of Weight ed Num ber of

average warrants
exercise price

2022 2022

average

exercise price
2021

w arrant s

2021

£ £

Exercisable at  t he beginning of  t he year             0.02878             159,940,371 0.01625 425,384,824

Exercised dur ing t he year   0.01       (47,906,000) 0.0138  (310,603,127)

Expired dur ing t he year       0.0205             (62,034,372) 0.0125 (4,841,325)

Grant ed during the year                              -                                   - 0.0375 49,999,999

Exercisable at  t he end of  t he year 0.0375             49,999,999          0.02878 159,940,371

The w ar rants out standing at  t he end of  t he year  have t he follow ing expiry date and exercise pr ices:

Dat e gr ant ed Expiry Date Exercise Pr ice

£

No. of

Warrant s

30 Apr il  2021 29 Apr il  2023 0.0375 49,999,999

14 Trade and other payables

Group Company

2022
£

2021

£

2022

  £

2021

£

Trade payables 149,938 156,301 109,098 9,605

Social secur it y and em ployee t axes 16,489 34,034 2,226  19,197

Ot her  credit ors and accruals 40,257 12,397 24,601 12,397

206,684 202,731 135,925 41,198
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15 Capital management

The Group’s object ive w hen managing capit al is t o safeguard t he en t it y’s abili ty t o cont inue as a going concern and develop it s

m ineral explor at ion and development  and ot her  act ivit ies t o provide ret urns for  shareholders and benef its for  ot her  st akeholders.

The Group’s capit al st ruct ure comprises all t he com ponent s of  equit y (all share capit al, share premium , retained ear nings w hen

earned and ot her  reserves). When consider ing t he f ut ure capit al r equirements of t he Group and t he pot ent ial t o fund specif ic

project  developm ent  via debt , t he Direct ors consider  t he r isk charact er ist ics of  t he under lying asset s in assessing t he opt imal

capit al st r uct ure.

16 Related party transactions

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

£ £ £ £

Am ount s owed t o Direct ors       400 10,606       479 10,606

Det ails of  Direct ors’  emolum ent s ar e disclosed in Not e 6. The am ount s owed t o Dir ect ors relat e t o accr ued em olument s,

consult ing fees and expenses due.

Dur ing t he year  t he Com pany provided addit ional advances of  £659,033 under  a loan t o M ercat or  Gold Aust ralia Pt y Lt d and

charged expenses and management  fees of  £139,507. The balance owed t o t he Com pany is shown in Not e 11.

The Com pany and t he Group have no ult im at e cont roll ing part y.

17 Commitments and contingencies

Capital expenditure commitment

As at  30 Sept ember  2022, t he Group has a commit ment  expendi t ure of  AUD$650,000 for  t he fir st  t hree years across t he t hree l icence

areas in Lolw ort h Range.

The Group is com m it t ed t o issuing a f urt her  AUD 150,000 w ort h of  Or dinary Shar es in ECR cont ingent  on commercial product ion

being est ablished f r om t he Bailiest on projects.

Contingencies

The Group ent er ed int o no agreement s dur ing t he year ended 30 Sept em ber  2022 w hich w ould resul t  in disclosur e of  cont ingent

assets or  liabil it ies.



45

Notes to the Financial Statements cont inued

For the year ended 30 September 2022

18 Financial instruments

Categories of financial instrument

Group
2022

£
2021

£

Financial assets (amortised cost)

Trade and ot her  receivables (excluding prepaym ent s) 99,072 100,406

Cash and cash equivalents 842,889 2,982,046

941,961 3,082,452

Financial asset s (fair value t hrough prof it  or  loss)

Equit y invest ment s 45,084 31,463

45,084 31,463

Financial liabilities (amortised cost)

Trade and ot her  payables 206,684 232,185

206,684 232,185

2022 2021

Company £ £

Financial assets (amortised cost)

Trade and ot her  receivables (excluding prepaym ent s) 989,006 852,485

Cash and cash equivalents 233,106 1,467,835

Long-term borrow ings, int ra-group 5,792,859 5,133,826

7,014,971 7,454,146

Financial asset s (fair value t hrough prof it  or  loss)

Equit y invest ment s 45,084 31,463

45,084 31,463

Financial liabilities (amortised cost)

Trade and ot her  payables 135,925 41,198

135,925 41,198

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s pr incipal  f inancial assets compr ise cash and cash equivalents, t rade and ot her  receivables, invest m ent s and

prepayments. The Group’s l iabil it ies compr ise t rade payables, ot her payables including t axes and social secur it y, and accrued

expenses.

The Board det ermines as required t he degree t o w hich i t  is appropr iate t o use f inancial inst rument s, comm odit y cont racts or  ot her

hedging cont racts t o m it igat e f inancial r isks.

Credit risk

The Gr oup’s cash and cash equivalent s ar e held w it h m ajor  financial  inst i t ut ions.  The Group m oni t ors credi t  r isk by review ing t he

credit  qualit y of t he f inancial inst it ut ions t hat  hold t he cash and cash equivalent s and rest rict ed cash. The fair  value of  cash and cash

equivalent s at 30 Sept em ber  2022 and 30 Septem ber  2021 did not  dif f er m ater iall y f rom t heir  carrying value.

M anagement  believes that  t he Group’s exposure to credit  risk is manageable.

The Company manages its current  VAT receivables by submit ting VAT retur ns on a quar terly basis.  This allows the Company to receive t he

VAT in a t imely mat ter  while any amounts that  may come under scr ut iny.  Management  has no formal credit  policy in place for cust omers

and the exposure to credit risk is approved and monit ored on an ongoing basis individually for  all signif icant customers.  The maximum

exposure to credit  r isk is represented by the carrying am ount  of each f inancial asset  in the statement  of financial posit ion.  The Group does

not  require collateral in respect  of  f inancial assets.

Market risk

The Group’s financial inst ruments pot ent ially af fect ed by market  r isk include bank deposi ts, and t r ade payables. An analysis is

required by IFRS 7, int ended t o illust rat e t he sensit ivit y of  t he Gr oup’s f inancial  inst ruments (as at  per iod end) t o changes in

m arket  var iables, being exchange r at es and int erest  rat es. The Group’s exposur e t o market  r isk is not  consider ed t o  be mat er ial.
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18 Financial instruments continued

Interest rate risk

The Group has no mat erial exposur e t o int erest  rat e r isk. Since t he int erest  accruing on bank deposit s w as relat ively immat er ial  t here is

no mat erial sensit ivit y t o changes in int er est  r at es.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed t o  for eign curr ency r isk in so far  as some dealings w it h overseas subsidiary under takings are in foreign

cur rencies. Bank accounts are held in Great  Brit ish Pounds (“ GBP), Australian Dollars (“ AUD” ) and United States of American Dollars

(“ USD” ).  The Company has payables that  originate in GBP, AUD, USD and Philippines Peso (“ PHP” ).  As such the Company is affected by

changes in t he GBP exchange rate compared t o the following cur rencies; AUD, USD, and PHP.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair  values of  t he Company’s financial inst r um ent s at  30 Sept em ber  2022 and 30 Sept ember  2021 did not  dif fer  mat er ially

from t heir  carrying values.

The Group m easures f air  values using t he follow ing fair  value hier archy t hat  ref lects t he signif icance of  t he input s used in m aking

t he measurement s:

• Level 1: quot ed pr ices (unadjusted) in act ive mar ket s for  ident ical assets or liabili t ies;

• Level 2: valuat ion t echniques based on  observable input s ei t her  direct ly ( i.e. as pr ices) or  indirect ly ( i.e. der ived f r om pr ices);

• Level 3: valuat ion t echniques t hat  include input s for  t he asset  or  liabil it y t hat  are not  based on observable mar ket  data

(unobser vable input s).

The follow ing t able provides an  analysis of  financial  inst r um ent s t hat  are m easured subsequent  t o  ini t ial recognit ion  at  f air  value, by

t he level  in t he fair  value hierarchy int o which t he measurement  i s cat egor ised.

Group and Company

30 September 2022

Level 1

£

Level 2

£

Level 3

£

Total

£

Financial asset s at  f air value t hrough prof it  or loss 45,084 – – 45,084

45,084 – – 45,084

Group and Company

30 September 2021
Level 1

£

Level 2

£

Level 3

£

Total

£

Financial asset s at  f air value t hrough prof it  or loss 31,463 – – 31,463

31,463 – – 31,463

As at 30 September 2022 GBP AUD PHP

Cash and cash equivalent s 233,106 1,033,117 44,789

Accounts receivable 1,037,568 77,251 -

Accounts payable (135,923) (114,461) (220,200)

Net  foreign exchange exposure 1,134,751 995,907 175,411

Translat ion to GBP - 0.5783 0.0153

GBP equivalent 1,134,751 1,722,150 2,684

As at 30 September 2021 GBP AUD PHP

Cash and cash equivalent s    1,467,835  2,126,534 -

Accounts receivable       878,097     102,765 -

Accounts payable        (41,198)    (161,533) -

Net  foreign exchange exposure    2,304,734  2,067,767 -

Translat ion to GBP                 -       0.5367 -

GBP equivalent 2,304,734 1,109,818 -
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Liquidity risk

The Group f inances it s operations primar il y t hrough t he issue of  equit y share capi tal  and debt  in order  t o ensur e suf f icient  cash

r esources ar e maint ained t o m eet  shor t –term  liabili t ies and future p r oject  development  r equirem ent s. M anagem ent  m oni t ors

availabilit y of f unds in relat ion t o forecast  expendit ures in order t o ensure t im ely fundraising. Funds ar e raised in discret e t ranches

t o finance act ivit ies for lim it ed per iods.

Funds surplus t o immediat e requir em ents m ay be placed in liquid, low  r isk invest ments.

The Group’s abilit y t o raise finance is subject  t o m arket  percept ions of  t he success of  it s project s under taken dur ing t he year and

subsequent ly. Due t o t he uncer t ain stat e of  f inancial market s t here can be no cer taint y t hat  fut ure funding wi ll  cont inue t o be

available.

The t able below  set s out  t he m at ur it y profi le of  f inancial  l iabilit ies as at  30 Sept ember  2022.

2022
£

2021

£

Due in less t han 1 m ont h 206,684 232,185

Due bet w een 1 and 3 m ont hs – –

Due bet ween 3 m ont hs and 1 year – –

Due aft er  1 year – –

206,684 232,185

19 Segmental report

The Group is engaged in miner al  explor at ion and  development  and is considered t o have one business segment . The Chief

Operat ing Decision M aker  is considered t o be t he Board of  Direct ors, who segm ent  explorat ion act ivit ies by geographical region in

order  t o evaluat e per for mance individually. The segmental breakdown of  explorat ion asset s is shown in Not e 10. As disclosed in

t he Not e 10, t he explorat ion act ivit ies in t he Philippines have been impair ed in f ull  and all r emaining mineral  explorat ion asset s

are in Aust ralia.

M anagement  inf or mat ion in respect  of  profi t  or  loss expendit ur es is not  segment ed but  is considered at  Group level .

20 Cash used in operations

Group Company

Year ended 30
September

Year ended 30
September

Year ended 30
September

Year ended 30
September

Note

2022

£

2021

£

2022

£

2021

£

Operating activities

Loss for  t he year  before tax (2,614,873) (1,413,206) (2,251,490) (800,558)

Adjust m ent s:

Loss on disposal of subsidiary -         -

Depreciat ion expense propert y, plant  and equipm ent 8 104,165 51,822 7,989 3,442

(Gain)/ Loss on f inancial assets at  fair  value (3,623) (4,593) (3,623) (4,593)

Im pairm ent  of int angible asset s 1,576,822 - 1,576,822 -

Int erest  incom e (651) (288) (265)   (260)

Prof it  and loss on disposal 12,887 2,086

Decrease/ (Increase) in account s receivable (1,896) (37,531) (159,471) (151,408)

Decrease/ (Increase) in invent ory 5,081 (75,722)

Foreign exchange on operat ing act ivit ies - (15) - -

Increase/ (Decrease) in account s payable 3,954 81,109 94,726 (52,650)

Net cash used in operations (918,135) (1,398,424) (733,226) (1,006,026)
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21 Events after the reporting date

 On 4 October  2022, the Company announced an updat e on the st ream sediment  sampling campaign current ly in pr ogress on its t enements at  Lolworth

Range, North Queensland, Aust ral ia. ECR M inerals announced that  t he project  is close to 75% complete, t hat  mor e than 91 samples have been

despatched and await ing results from t he laboratory w hilst follow -up sampling work w ill continue.

 On 11 October 2022 the Company provided an update on the second dr il ling rig stat ing the rig purchase has now been completed, following the

agreement  of a meaningful discount , on what  t he board consider t o be compet it ive and at t ract ive terms. Ar rangements are current ly being made for  the

r ig to be loaded onto a ship for delivery to Melbourne Port .

 On 14 October 2022 the Company announced t he final gold results from the 2022 drill program at  the HR3 prospect  at  Bail ieston. ECR M inerals plc has

100% ownership of t he Bailieston Project  (EL5433), which contains the gold prospects known as HR3, Cherry Tree, Blue Moon and Black Cat . The projects

are operat ed by ECR’s Australian wholly owned subsidiary M ercator Gold Australia Pty Lt d (“ MGA” ). The Company announced the best  results in

BH3DD043 w ith a composited grade of 9.01 g/ t  Au over a dr illed width of 4 metres. Along with further r esult s from the Maori Anticline include 1m @

4.96 g/ t  Au (BH3DD042) at  a depth of 273m. With mult iple int ersect ions along str ike of t he Scoulers Reef including 0.2m  @ 9.22 g/ t  Au (BH3DD042),

0.5m @ 4.55 g/ t  Au (BH3DD037) and 1m @ 3.34 g/ t Au (BH3DD038).

 On 19 Oct ober  2022 t he Com pany announced resul ts f rom a re-assay of  select ed diam ond drill core fr om  t he Cresw ick diamond dr ill ing

program  complet ed in 2021. The Com pany st at ed t hat  Dupl icat e sampling of  select ed quart z-mineralised  int ercepts from  t he diam ond

dr ill ing campaign of  2021 show s signif icant  increase in report able gold grades including of  0.7m  @ 47.75 g/ t  Au from 147m  in hole CSD001,

1.1m @ 6.13 g/ t  Au from  98m in hole CJD002 and 1m  @ 3.9 g/ t  Au from  86.5m, also in hole CJD002. Ongoing sur face explorat ion in t he

immediat e area is t est ing f or  f ol low-up dr ill  t argets.

 On 27 Oct ober  2022 t he Company w as pleased to announce enter ing into a Binding Term Sheet  pursuant  t o which it  has been granted a condit ional

opt ion to acquire t he ent ire issued share capital of Placer Gold Pty Limited (“ Placer Gold” ) (the “ Opt ion” ). To secure the option ECR has to pay a A$200,000

(approximately £144k) opt ion fee (“ Option Fee” ), which is to be sat isfied by a contr ibution t o costs, t he implem entation of  a work programme over the

assets (details below) and a balancing cash payment  t o the shareholders of Placer Gold ("Vendors” ). Once t he Option Fee has been fully sat isfied ECR

can then exercise the Opt ion at  any t ime prior  to 30 September 2023, at  its absolut e discretion. If  the Opt ion Fee is f ully sat isfied and the Opt ion is

exercised, t he t otal considerat ion for the acquisit ion of Placer Gold is A$6.9m (approximately £3.8m, including the Option Fee, a further cash payment

of A$200,000 payable in t he event  of cert ain milestones being reached, and a 2% net  smelter r oyalty payable in the event  t he Hurricane Project  is taken

into production in the fut ure, capped at  £3m).

 On 17 November  2022 t he Company pleased announce gold results f rom t he f irst  dr illhole for  2022 (BBM DD004) complet ed at  Blue M oon

w it h result s f rom t he first  diamond dr illhole f or  2022 are encouraging w it h 0.5m @ 7.29 g/ t  Au f rom 96.9m. Dr illing cont inues w it h t hree

out  of  a planned four-hole program  complet ed t o dat e w it h samples await ing result s pending.

 On 23 November  2022 t he Com pany announced it  w ill  issue A$120,000 t o GoldOz PL in sat isfact ion of  all  fees ow ing t o t hem as adviser  in

connect ion w it h t he recent  opt ion  agreement  and  pot ent ial  acquisit ion of  Placer  Gold Pt y Lim it ed as announced on 27 Oct ober  2022. This

fee is t o be sat isf ied by a payment  of  A$60,000 in cash and A$60,000 in shares t hrough t he issue of  3,272,608 shares at  a pr ice of  1.03p

calculat ed by ref erence t o t he 30 day VWAP.

 On 12 December  2022 t he Com pany announced a raise of  £900,000 by w ay of  a placing and direct  subscr ipt ion at  a pr ice of  0.9p  per  share.

Bot h t he Placing Shares and t he Subscr ipt ion Shares wer e also accom panied by t he issue of  one warrant  t o subscribe for  one ordinary share

in t he Company for  each new  share issued (t he “ New  Warrant s” ). When issued, t he New  Warrant s w il l be exercisable at  any t im e, f or  a

per iod of  2 years from t he dat e of  admission of  t he Placing Shares and t he Subscript ion Shares (as applicable) at  an exercise pr ice of  1.5p

each.

 On 12 December  2022 t he Company announced t he first  round of  result s f r om t he recent  st ream  sedim ent  sampl ing campaign undert aken

at  t he Lolwor t h Range project , Nor t h Queensland, Aust ralia. The resu lt s ar e as followed 21 out  of  125 st ream sediment  samples t o dat e ar e

anomalous w it h gold, w it h result s up t o 152.5 ppm  Au. 18 of  t he 125 samples show  visible gold and fur t her  samples are aw ait ing result s

including 212 st ream  sedim ent  sam ples and 33 rock chips and M ult iple pegm atit es observed t hr oughout  t he t enement s.

 On 13 December  2022 t he Company are pleased t o announce t wo new  explorat ion t enem ents have been grant ed t o ECR’s wholly ow ned

subsidiary M ercator  Gold  Aust ral ia Pt y Ltd (“ M GA” ) at  Bail iest on, Vict or ia, Aust ral ia. The tw o new  explorat ion tenem ent s (EK006911 and

EL 006912) adjacent  t o EL5433 have been formally grant ed t o ECR’s wholly ow ned subsidiary M GA. Tot al explorat ion land package at

Bailiest on (EL5433, EL006911, EL006912) now  t otals 179 square kilom etres.

 On 22 Decem ber  2022 t he Com pany plc announced updated soil sampling results from the on-going geochemistry explorat ion on EL006184 at

Creswick, Victoria, Australia. These results highlight  a potential new parallel gold system w ithin the Dimocks M ain Shale (DMS).

 On 23 December  2022 t he Company announced  encouraging Lit hium, Tantalum and Niobium  anomalies ident if ied w it hin t he first  round o f

result s from t he recent  st r eam sediment  sampling campaign under t aken at  t he Lolwor t h Range project , Nort h Queensland, Aust ral ia.

 On 3 January 2023 t he Company announce i t  has received approval for  t wo new  explorat ion t enements in Vict or ia, Australia. The New

tenem ent  EL007296 now  complet es t he t ot al explorat ion package at  Bailiest on, Vict or ia. New  Cresw ick t enem ent  EL006713 ef fect ively

connect s EL006184 and EL006907, creat ing a cont inuous land package fr om  ECR’s Spr ingmount  proper t y sout h t hrough t o t he out skir ts of

Ballarat .

 On 23 January 2023 t he Company announce updat ed results from soil  sampling and ot her  on-going explorat ion act ivi t ies w it hin l icence

EL006184 at  Creswick, Vict or ia, Austral ia.

 On 1 February 2023 t he Com pany announced high gold grades from  recent  in-sit u rock chips si t ed w it hin license EL006184 and new ly
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acquired license EL006713 at  t he Cr eswick Project , Vict or ia, Aust ral ia. W it h results of 0.7m @ 189.42 g/ t  Au and 0.4m @ 86.51 g/ t  Au from

(EL006184);  0.25m  @ 441.23 g/ t  Au, 0.15m  @ 140.83 g/ t  Au and 0.25m  @ 24.92 g/ t  Au fr om  (EL006713).

 On 15 Febr uary 2023 t he Company is pleased  t o announce t hat  it  has execut ed a sale and purchase agreement  for  t he sale of  t he Company’s

‘Bail iest on’ proper ty locat ed at  127 Nagambie-Rushw ort h Road w it hin t he Com pany’s 100% owned Bail iest on license area. For  a cash sale

pr ice of  A$670,000 has been agreed for  t he Nagam bie-Rushwor t h Road propert y, w it h a deposit  of  A$67,000 already received.

 On 22 February t he Com pany announced  t hat  it  has execut ed a sale and purchase agreement  for  t he sale of  t he Company’s ‘Bailiest on’

propert y locat ed at  127 Nagam bie-Rushwort h Road w it hin t he Company’s 100% owned Bai liest on license area f or  a cash sale pr ice of

A$670,000 has been agreed for  t he Nagam bie-Rushw ort h Road propert y, w it h a 10% deposit  already received.

 On 24 February t he Company w as pleased t o announce an increase from 70% t o 90% w it h it s ownership st ake Cordiller a Tiger  Gold

Resources, Inc (“ Cordi llera” ), owner of  Explorat ion License EP-006 at  t he Danglay gold project  in t he nort h of  t he Phi lippines.

 On 1 M arch t he Company provided an updat e on result s f rom t hr ee more dri ll  holes from t he Blue M oon Pr ospect , Bailieston, Vict or ia,

including our  best  gold int ercept  for  t his 2022 dr il ling campaign in hole BBM DD010. Wit h an impressive composit e grade of  6.35m  @4.56

g/ t  f rom 84.9m  down.

 On 3 M arch t he Company is pleased t o provide an updat e on t he second dr ill ing r ig. t he r ig has arrived 1 M arch 2023 at  M elbourne Por t

and t he t eam  im mediat ely col lect ed and fi t t ed out  t he r ig w it h support  equipm ent  f or  deployment .
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ECR M INERALS PLC

(the “Company”)

(Registered in England and Wales No 05079979)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL M EETING

NOTICE is hereby given that  the Annual General Meet ing of the Company w ill be held at  Office T3, Hurlingham Studios,

Ranelagh Gardens, London SW6 3PA on M onday 24 April 2023 at 9.00 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought

fit , passing Resolutions 1 to 7 as ordinary resolutions, and Resolution 8 as a special resolution:

Ordinary Resolutions

1 To receive, consider and adopt the annual accounts of the Company for the year ended 30 September 2022, together

w ith the reports of the directors and auditors thereon.

2 That  Weili (David) Tang be re-elected as a director of the Company.

3 That  Adam Craig Jones be re-elected as a director of the Company.

4 That  Dr Trevor George Davenport be re-elected as a director of the Company.

5 That  Andrew Scot t  be re-elected as a director of the Company.

6 To re-appoint  PKF Lit t lejohn as audit ors of  t he Company t o hold of f ice unt il t he conclusion of  t he next  general

meet ing at  which account s are laid before t he Company and t o authorise the audit  commit tee to determine the

remunerat ion of the auditors of the Company.

7 That  the directors be generally and uncondit ionally authorised pursuant  to and in accordance wit h sect ion 551 of the

Companies  Act  2006 (the “ CA 2006” ) to exercise all the powers of the Company t o allot  shares or grant  rights to subscribe

for, or to convert  any security int o, shares in the Company up to an aggregate nominal amount of £10,000 provided that  this

authority shall, unless renewed, varied or revoked by the Company, expire on 30 June 2024 or, if earlier, the date of the next

annual general meet ing of t he Company, save that  the Company may, before such expiry, make offers or agreements which

would or might require equity securit ies to be allotted (or t reasury shares to be sold) aft er the authority expires and the

directors may allot  equity securit ies (or sell t reasury shares) in pursuance of any such offer or agreement  as if the aut hority

had not expired.

Special Resolution

8 That, subject to the passing of Resolution 7, the directors be empowered to allot equity securit ies (as defined by sect ion

560 of the CA 2006) pursuant  to the authority conferred by Resolution 7 for cash, and/ or sell t reasury shares for cash,

as if sect ion 561(1) of the CA 2006 did not apply to any such allotment , provided that  this power shall be limited to the

allotment of equity securit ies of  up to an aggregate nominal value of £10,000. The authority grant ed by this resolut ion will

expire at  the conclusion of  the Company’s next  annual general meet ing after this resolut ion is passed or, if earlier, at  the close

of business on 30 June 2024 save that  the Company may, before such expiry, make offers or agreements which would or

might  require equity securit ies to  be allot ted (or t reasury shares to be sold) after the aut hority expires and the direct ors may

allot  equit y securit ies (or sell t reasury shares) in pursuance of any such offer or agreement  as if the authority had not  expired.



By order of the board

Weili (David) Tang

Chairman

Registered Office:

Off ice T3, Hurlingham Studios

Ranelagh Gardens

London

SW6 3PA

31 M arch 2023



NOTES ON RESOLUTIONS

The following paragraphs explain, in summary, t he resolut ions to be proposed at  the annual general meet ing

(the “M eeting” ).

Resolution 1: Receipt of the annual accounts

Resolution 1 proposes that  the Company’s annual accounts for the period ended 30 September 2022,

together with the reports of  the directors and auditors on these accounts, be received, considered and

adopted.

Resolutions 2-5: Re-election of Directors

Resolutions 2-5 propose that each of t he current  Directors of the Company, M r Tang, M r Jones, Dr

Davenport  and M r Scot t, who were each last  re-elected to the Board at  the 2022 AGM, and who wish to

stand for re-election in order to promote good corporate governance, be re-elected as directors of the

Company. A copy of each Director’s biography can be found on page [6] of the Annual Report.

Resolution 6: Re-appointment of auditor

Resolution 6 proposes the reappointment of the Company’s existing auditor to hold office unt il the end of

the next annual general meeting.

Resolution 7: Remuneration of auditor

Resolution 7 is to authorise the audit committee of the Company to determine the remunerat ion of the

Company’s auditors.

Resolution 8: Authority to allot shares

Resolut ion 8 is to renew the directors’ power to allot  shares in accordance wit h sect ion 551 of the CA 2006. The

authority granted at  the annual general meet ing on 25 April 2022 is due to expire on the earlier of  30 June 2023

or the proposed date of  the M eet ing.

If passed, the resolut ion will authorise the direct ors to allot  equity securit ies up to a maximum nominal amount

of  £10,000, which represents approximately 85 % of the Company’s issued ordinary shares as at 31 M arch 2023

(being the latest  pract icable date before publicat ion of this document).

If given, these authorit ies will expire at  the annual general meet ing in 2024 or on 30 June 2024, whichever is

the earlier.

The directors have no present  intent ion to issue new ordinary shares, other than pursuant  to the exercise of

opt ions or warrants. However, the directors consider it  prudent  to maintain the f lexibility to t ake advant age of

business opportunit ies that  this authority provides.

As at  t he date of t his document  the Company does not  hold any ordinary shares in the capit al of the Company

in t reasury.

Resolution 9: Disapplication of pre-emption rights

Resolution 9 is to grant the directors the authority to allot equity securit ies for cash or sell any shares held

in treasury otherwise than to exist ing shareholders pro rata to their holdings, as there may be occasions

where it  is in the best interests of the Company not  to be required to f irst  offer such shares to exist ing

shareholders.

Accordingly, resolut ion 9 will be proposed as a special resolution to grant  such a power and will permit  the

direct ors, pursuant to the authority grant ed by resolut ion 6, to allot equity securit ies (as defined by sect ion 560

of the CA 2006)  or sell t reasury shares for cash without  f irst  offering them to exist ing shareholders in proport ion

to  their  exist ing  holdings up to a maximum nominal value of £10,000 represent ing approximately 85% of the

Company’s issued ordinary shares as at 31 M arch 2023 (being the latest pract icable date before publicat ion

of this document). If given, this authority will expire at  the annual general meeting in 2024 or on 30 June



2024, whichever is the earlier.

SHAREHOLDER NOTES

The following notes provide more detailed informat ion about  your vot ing rights, and how you may exercise them.

1 A member ent it led t o attend and vote at  the meet ing is ordinarily ent it led to appoint  another person(s) (who need

not be a member of the Company) to exercise all or any of his right s t o at tend, speak and vote at  the meet ing. A

member can appoint  more than one proxy in relat ion to the meet ing, provided t hat  each proxy is appointed to

exercise the rights attaching t o different  shares held by him.

2 Your proxy should be the Chairman of the M eet ing to ensure your vote is counted. Your proxy w ill vote as you

instruct and must attend the meet ing for your vote to be counted.

Det ails of how to appoint the Chairman using the proxy form are set  out  in the notes to the proxy form.

3 An appoint ment  of proxy is provided wit h this not ice and inst ruct ions for use are shown on the form. In order t o be

valid, a completed appointment  of proxy must  be returned t o the Company by one of the following methods:

3.1 in hard copy form by post, by courier or by hand to the Company’s regist rars, Computershare Investor

Services plc, at  the address shown on the form of proxy; or

3.2 in the case of CREST members, by utilising the CREST electronic proxy appointment  service in accordance

with the procedures set  out below, and in each case must  be received by the Company by 9.00 a.m. on

Thursday 20 April 2023 or in the case of any adjourned meeting 48 hours (excluding non-business days)

before the adjourned meet ing.

Please not e that  any electronic communicat ion sent  to us/ our regist rars in respect  of the appointment  of a proxy

that  is found to contain a computer virus will not  be accepted.

4 In the case of a member which is a company, the proxy form must  be executed under its common seal or

signed on its behalf by an officer of the company or an at torney for t he company.

5 Any power of attorney or any other aut hority under which the proxy form is signed (or a duly cert ified copy of such

power or authorit y) must be included wit h the proxy form.

6 To change your proxy instruct ions you may return a new proxy appointment  using the methods set  out  above.

Where you have appointed a proxy using the hard copy proxy form and would like to change the inst ruct ions

using another hard copy proxy form, please contact Computershare Investor Services plc. The deadline for

receipt  of proxy appointments (see above) also applies in relat ion to amended instruct ions. Any at tempt  to

terminate or amend a proxy appointment  received after t he relevant  deadline will be disregarded. Where two or

more valid separate appointments of proxy are received in respect  of t he same share in respect  of the same

meet ing, the one which is last  sent shall be t reat ed as revoking t he ot her or others.

7 CREST members who wish to appoint  a proxy or proxies by ut ilising the CREST elect ronic proxy appointment  service

may do so by ut ilising the procedures described in the CREST M anual. CREST Personal M embers or other CREST

sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a vot ing service provider(s), should refer to

their CREST sponsor or vot ing service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate act ion on their behalf.

8 In order for a proxy appointment made by means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a

“CREST Proxy Instruction” ) must  be properly authenticated in accordance wit h Euroclear UK &  International’s

specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST

Manual.

The message, regardless of whether it  const itutes the appointment  of a proxy or an amendment  to the instruct ion

given to a previously appointed proxy, must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the

issuer’s agent , Computershare Investor Services plc (ID 3RA50) by the latest time(s) for receipt  of proxy

appointments specified in the notice of meeting. For this purpose, the t ime of receipt will be taken to be the

t ime (as determined by the t imestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applicat ions Host) from which the



issuer’s agent is able to ret rieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.

9 The Company may treat  as invalid a CREST Proxy Inst ruction in the circumstances set  out  in Regulat ion 35(5)(a)

of the Uncertificated Securit ies Regulations 2001.

10 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that

Euroclear UK & International does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages.

Normal system timings and limitat ions will therefore apply in relat ion to the input of CREST Proxy Inst ruct ions.

It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal

member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor

or vot ing service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is t ransmitted

by means of the CREST system by any particular t ime. In this connection, CREST members and, where

applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sect ions of the

CREST M anual concerning pract ical limitat ions of the CREST system and timings.

11 Only those shareholders registered in the Register of M embers of the Company as at 6.00 p.m. on 20 April

2023 (or, if the meet ing is adjourned, on the date which is 48 hours (excluding non-business days) before the

time of the adjourned meeting) shall be ent it led to at tend and vote at the meeting or adjourned meet ing in

respect  of t he number of shares registered in their respective names at that t ime. Changes to the Register of

M embers after that t ime w ill be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to at tend or vote at the

meeting or adjourned meeting.

12 Any corporation which is a member can appoint one or more corporate representatives who may exercise on

its behalf all of its powers as a member provided that  they do not  do so in relat ion to the same shares.

13 You may not use any electronic address provided either in this notice Meet ing or any related documents

(including the form of proxy) to communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly

stated.

14 As at 31 M arch 2023 (being the last  business day before the publication of this notice), t he Company’s issued

ordinary share capital consisted of 1,167,837,145 ordinary shares carrying one vote each. The Company does

not  hold any shares in t reasury. In addit ion, there are 72,674,911 deferred shares of £0.099 each,

3,867,029,332 deferred B shares of £0.00099 each and 129,226,440 deferred shares of £0.00199 each which

do not carry vot ing rights.

15 Any member at tending the meeting has the right  to ask questions. The Company must cause to be answered

any such question relat ing to the business being dealt w ith at the meet ing but no such answer need be given

if :

15.1 to do so would interfere unduly with the preparat ion for the meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential

informat ion;

15.2 the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer to a quest ion; or

15.3 it  is undesirable in the interests of t he company or the   good order of the meet ing that  the quest ion be

answered.

16 Information regarding the meeting is available from www.ecrminerals.com
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